**Regular Article - Theoretical Physics** 

## f(Q, T) gravity

### Yixin Xu<sup>1,a</sup>, Guangjie Li<sup>1,2,b</sup>, Tiberiu Harko<sup>1,3,c</sup>, Shi-Dong Liang<sup>1,4,5,d</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Physics, Sun Yat-Sen University, Xingang Road, Guangzhou 510275, People's Republic of China

<sup>2</sup> Department of Physics and Astronomy, Purdue University, 525 Northwestern Avenue, West Lafayette, IN 47907-2036, USA

<sup>3</sup> Department of Physics, Babes-Bolyai University, Kogalniceanu Street, 400084 Cluj-Napoca, Romania

<sup>4</sup> State Key Laboratory of Optoelectronic Material and Technology, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China

<sup>5</sup> Guangdong Province Key Laboratory of Display Material and Technology, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China

Received: 17 July 2019 / Accepted: 6 August 2019 / Published online: 22 August 2019 © The Author(s) 2019

Abstract We propose an extension of the symmetric teleparallel gravity, in which the gravitational action L is given by an arbitrary function f of the non-metricity Q and of the trace of the matter-energy-momentum tensor T, so that L = f(Q, T). The field equations of the theory are obtained by varying the gravitational action with respect to both metric and connection. The covariant divergence of the field equations is obtained, with the geometry-matter coupling leading to the nonconservation of the energy-momentum tensor. We investigate the cosmological implications of the theory, and we obtain the cosmological evolution equations for a flat, homogeneous and isotropic geometry, which generalize the Friedmann equations of general relativity. We consider several cosmological models by imposing some simple functional forms of the function f(Q, T), corresponding to additive expressions of f(Q, T) of the form  $f(Q,T) = \alpha Q + \beta T, f(Q,T) = \alpha Q^{n+1} + \beta T$ , and  $f(Q, T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2$ . The Hubble function, the deceleration parameter, and the matter-energy density are obtained as a function of the redshift by using analytical and numerical techniques. For all considered cases the Universe experiences an accelerating expansion, ending with a de Sitter type evolution. The theoretical predictions are also compared with the results of the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model.

#### Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Field equations of $f(Q, T)$ theory	5
	2.1 Geometrical preliminaries	5

2.2 The variational principle and the field equations			
of $f(Q, T)$ gravity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	6		
2.3 The energy-momentum tensor balance equation	7		
3 Cosmological evolution of the Friedmann–Lemaitre–			
Robertson–Walker Universe in $f(Q, T)$ gravity	8		
3.1 The generalized Friedmann equations	9		
3.2 The de Sitter solution	10		
4 Specific cosmological models	10		
4.1 $f(Q, T) = \alpha Q + \beta T \dots$	10		
4.2 $f(Q, T) = \alpha Q^{n+1} + \beta T$	11		
$4.3  f(Q,T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2  \dots  \dots$	11		
5 Discussions and final remarks	13		
Acknowledgements			
Appendix A: Calculation of $Q = -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}P^{\alpha\mu\nu}$	14		
Appendix B: Calculation of the variation of $\delta Q$	15		
Appendix C: Variation of the gravitational action with			
respect to the connection	16		
Appendix D: Metric divergence of (1, 1)-form field			
equations	16		
Appendix E: Calculation of $Q = 6H^2/N^2$ 1			
References	18		

#### **1** Introduction

The development of gravitational theories closely followed the advances in differential geometry. In all geometric descriptions of gravity it is assumed, following [1], that the spacetime is endowed with a metric structure in a general space based on the element of arc  $ds = F(x^1, ..., x^n;$  $dx^1, ..., dx^n)$ , where F(x; y) is a positive (for  $y \neq 0$ ) function defined on the tangent bundle *TM*. Moreover, it is generally assumed that *F* is homogeneous of degree one in *y* [2]. An important special case is represented by the choice  $F^2 = g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}$ , with the corresponding geometry called generally Riemannian geometry. Riemannian geometry lays at the foundations of general relativity [3–5], a geo-



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>e-mail: xuyx27@mail2.sysu.edu.cn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>e-mail: li3582@purdue.edu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> e-mail: tiberiu.harko@gmail.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>e-mail: stslsd@mail.sysu.edu.cn

metric theory of gravity, which has become, together with quantum mechanics, one of the cornerstones of present day physics. General relativity is presently considered to be the most successful theory of gravity ever proposed. Its remarkable predictions on the perihelion advance of Mercury, on the deflection of light by the Sun, gravitational redshift [6], or radar echo delay [7,8] have been confirmed observationally at an unparalleled level of accuracy. Moreover, predictions such as the orbital decay of the Hulse-Taylor binary pulsar, due to gravitational-wave damping, have also fully confirmed the observationally weak-field validity of the theory [9]. For reviews of the experimental and observational tests of general relativity see [10, 11]. The detection of the gravitational waves [12] did give the opportunity to evaluate the predictions of general relativity in the final stages of binary black hole coalescence, corresponding to the limiting case of strong gravitational fields.

On the other hand recent observational advances in cosmology have provided strong evidence that recently our Universe did enter in an accelerated expansion phase [13-20]. Moreover, the same observations indicate the surprising result that around 95-96% of the content of the Universe is in the form of two mysterious components, called dark energy and dark matter, respectively, with only about 4-5% of the total composition represented by baryonic matter [21,22]. These observations have shown the limitations of standard general relativity, which despite its important achievements, and its remarkable success at the Solar System scale, may not be adequate to fully explain gravitational phenomena on galactic and cosmological ranges. Hence standard general relativity may not be the ultimate theory of the gravitational force, since it cannot give satisfactory explanations to the two fundamental problems present day cosmology is confronted with: the dark matter problem and the dark energy problem, respectively. Moreover, since Einstein's standard theory predicts the existence of spacetime singularities in the Big Bang and inside black holes, general relativity represents an incomplete physical model. To solve the singularity problem a consistent prolongation of general relativity into the quantum domain is probably needed.

To explain the observational results of cosmology many different approaches at the classical level have been proposed recently. However, a satisfactory theory of gravity has yet to be found. One possibility to build new gravitational theories is to assume that at large scales the Einstein gravity model of general relativity breaks down, and a more general action than the standard Hilbert one, given by  $S = \int (R/2\kappa^2 + L_m) \sqrt{-g} d^4x$ , where *R* is the Ricci scalar,  $\kappa$  is the gravitational coupling constant, and  $\sqrt{-g}$  is the determinant of the metric tensor, respectively, describes the gravitational field. An important theoretical direction of study is represented by approaches in which, by keeping the geometrical background as strictly Riemannian, the standard strictly Riemannian is the standard strictly Riemannian.

dard Hilbert-Einstein action is replaced by a more general action. One of the simplest possibilities of extending Einstein's gravity is to introduce an arbitrary function f of the Ricci scalar R into the gravitational action [23,24], which thus becomes  $S = \int (f(R)/2\kappa^2 + L_m) \sqrt{-g} d^4x$ . In this framework, a geometric solution to the dark matter problem can also be obtained [25]. A second approach to extend the Hilbert-Einstein action is to assume the existence of a non-minimal coupling between geometry and matter. This direction of research leads to distinct classes of gravitational theories, called  $f(R, L_m)$  gravity [26–29], with action given by  $S = \int f(R, L_m) \sqrt{-g} d^4x$ , and to the f(R, T) gravity theory [30], with action given by  $S = \int f(R, T) \sqrt{-g} d^4 x$ , where T is the trace of the energy-momentum tensor, respectively. Another theoretical approach, called hybrid metric-Palatini gravity, which combines the metric and the Palatini formalisms of modified gravity theories, was proposed in [31,32] to construct a new type of gravitational Lagrangian. For extensive reviews and discussions of the modified gravity theories and of their implications see [33–45].

The properties as well as the astrophysical and cosmological implications of the f(R, T) gravity theory have been investigated in detail [46-78]. An interesting feature of the theory is its possible interpretation as an effective description of some quantum gravity phenomena. As suggested in [46], by adopting a nonperturbative approach for the quantization of the gravitational metric, proposed [47-49], a particular type of f(R, T) gravity naturally comes up due to the quantum fluctuations of the metric tensor, with the action given by  $S = \int (1-\alpha) R/2\kappa^2 + (L_m - \alpha T/2) \sqrt{-g} d^4x$ , where  $\alpha$  is a constant. This interesting theoretical result may imply the existence of a deep connection between the quantum field theoretical description of the gravitational interaction in curved backgrounds, which automatically involves particle creation in the gravitational field, and the corresponding effective classical description within the framework of the f(R, T) gravity theory [49].

Since general relativity is basically a geometric theory, formulated in the Riemann metrical space, a second promising approach for obtaining generalized theories of gravity consists in looking for more general geometric structures that could describe the gravitational field. Hence more general geometries than the Riemannian one, which may be valid at the Solar System level only, may provide an explanation of the behavior at large cosmological scales of the matter in the Universe.

The first attempt to create a more general geometry than the Riemannian one is due to Weyl [79], which is a classic example of the fruitful interplay between mathematics and physics. The main goal of the study by Weyl was to obtain a geometrical unification of electromagnetism and gravitation. The fundamental concept in Riemann geometry is the metric-compatible Levi-Civita connection, which allows the comparison of lengths. Weyl did replace the metric field by the class of all conformally equivalent metrics, and he did introduce a connection that does not contain any information about the length of a vector in the parallel transport. In order to obtain information on the vector length, Weyl introduced an extra connection, the length connection, which does not contain any knowledge about the direction of a vector on parallel transport. The only role of the length connection is to fix, or gauge, the conformal factor. The covariant divergence of the metric tensor is non-zero in Weyl's theory, and this property can be expressed mathematically in terms of a new geometric quantity, called non-metricity. In the physical applications of this geometry the length connection was identified with the electromagnetic potential. Dirac [80] proposed a generalization of Weyl's theory, which is based on the idea of the existence of two metrics, the physically undetectable metric  $ds_E$ , altered by the transformations in the standards of length, while the second metric, a measurable one, is given by the conformally invariant atomic metric  $ds_A$ . Weyl's theory has a remarkable intrinsic mathematical beauty, associated with a rich physical structure. However, it was largely ignored by physicists, and it did not become a mainstream research topics mainly because of Einstein's very early criticism [81] that "...in Weyl's theory the frequency of spectral lines would depend on the history of the atom, in complete contradiction to known experimental facts."

However, another important development in geometry, which led to a new class of generalized geometric theories of gravity, occurred due to the work of Cartan, who, based on his geometric work [82], proposed an extension of general relativity [83-85], known today as the Einstein-Cartan theory [86]. The torsion field, representing the new geometric element of the theory, is usually interpreted, from a physical point of view, as the spin density [86]. The Weyl geometry can be naturally extended to include the torsion. The resulting geometry is called the Weyl-Cartan geometry, and it was widely studied from both mathematical and physical points of view [87-95]. Torsion was included in the geometric framework of the Weyl–Dirac theory in [96–98], leading to an action integral from which one can construct a general relativistic massive electrodynamics, gauge covariant in the sense of Weyl. For a review of the physical applications and geometric properties of the Riemann-Cartan and Weyl-Cartan geometries, see [99].

A third independent mathematical development that quickly did find important physical applications took place through the work of Weitzenböck [100], who introduced what are presently known as the Weitzenböck spaces. A Weitzenböck manifold is characterized by the properties  $\nabla_{\mu}g_{\sigma\lambda} = 0$ ,  $T^{\mu}_{\sigma\lambda} \neq 0$ , and  $R^{\mu}_{\nu\sigma\lambda} = 0$ , where  $g_{\sigma\lambda}$ ,  $T^{\mu}_{\sigma\lambda}$  and  $R^{\mu}_{\nu\sigma\lambda}$  are the metric tensor, the torsion tensor, and the curvature tensor of the manifold, respectively. When  $T^{\mu}_{\sigma\lambda} = 0$ , the Weitzenböck manifold is reduced to a Euclidean manifold. The torsion tensor has different values on different regions of the Weitzenböck manifold. Since the Riemann curvature tensor of a Weitzenböck space is zero, these geometries have the important property of distant parallelism, a property also known as absolute parallelism, or teleparallelism. Weitzenböck type spacetimes were first applied in physics by Einstein, who proposed a unified teleparallel theory of electromagnetism and gravity [101].

In the teleparallel approach to gravity the basic idea is to replace the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  of the spacetime, the basic physical variable describing the gravitational properties, by a set of tetrad vectors  $e_{\mu}^{i}$ . The torsion, generated by the tetrad fields, can then be used to entirely describe gravitational effects, with the curvature replaced by the torsion. Thus we arrive at the so-called teleparallel equivalent of General Relativity (TEGR), which was initially introduced in [102–104], and is also known presently as the f(T) gravity theory. Hence, in teleparallel, or f(T) type theories, torsion exactly compensates curvature, with the important consequence that the spacetime becomes flat. An important advantage of the f(T)gravity theory is that the field equations are of second order, unlike in f(R) gravity, which in the metric approach is a fourth order theory. For a detailed discussion of teleparallel theories see [105]. f(T) gravity theories have been widely applied to the study of astrophysical processes, and to cosmology, and in particular they are extensively used to explain the late-time accelerating expansion of the Universe, without the need of introducing dark energy [106-124].

In [125] an extension of the teleparallel gravity models, called WCW gravity, was proposed. In this theory, the Weitzenböock condition of the vanishing of the sum of the curvature and torsion scalar is imposed in a background Weyl-Cartan type spacetime. A basic difference with the standard teleparallel theories is that this the model is formulated in a four-dimensional curved spacetime, and not in a flat Euclidian geometry. WCW gravity leads to a purely geometrical description of dark energy, with the late-time acceleration of the Universe fully determined by the intrinsic properties of the spacetime. An extension of the Weyl-Cartan-Weitzenböck (WCW) and teleparallel gravity in which the Weitzenböck condition of the exact cancellation of curvature and torsion in a Weyl-Cartan geometry is inserted into the gravitational action via a Lagrange multiplier was considered in [126]. As a particular model the case of the Riemann-Cartan spacetimes with zero non-metricity, which mimics the teleparallel theory, was considered. Several classes of exact cosmological models were also investigated.

From the above presentation it turns out that general relativity can be represented in (at least) two equivalent geometric representations: the curvature representation (in which the torsion and the non-metricity vanish), and the teleparallel representation (in which the curvature and the non-metricity vanish), respectively. However, a third equivalent representation is also possible, in which the basic geometric variable describing the properties of the gravitational interaction is represented by the non-metricity Q of the metric, which geometrically describes the variation of the length of a vector in the parallel transport. Such an approach, called symmetric teleparallel gravity, was initially introduced in [127], and it has the advantages of covariantizing the usual coordinate calculations in general relativity. It turns out that in symmetric teleparallel gravity the associated energy-momentum density is essentially the Einstein pseudotensor, which becomes a true tensor in this geometric representation. Symmetric teleparellel gravity was further developed into the f(Q) gravity theory (or coincident general relativity) in [128], and it is also known as nonmetric gravity. Various geometrical and physical aspects of symmetric teleparallel gravity have been investigated in the past two decades in a number of studies, with the interest for this theory increasing rapidly recently [129–148]. For a review of teleparallel gravity see [149].

The propagation of gravitational waves in various extensions of symmetric teleparallel gravity was investigated in [137], with a particular focus on their speed and polarization. For the simple symmetric teleparallel gravity, and for theories that arise from the generalized irreducible decomposition of symmetric teleparallel gravity, as well as for f(Q)gravity, the same speed and polarizations of the gravitational waves were obtained as in general relativity. A derivation of the exact propagator for the most general infinite-derivative, even-parity and generally covariant theory in the symmetric teleparallel spacetimes was presented in [138]. In this approach the action made up of the non-metricity tensor and its contractions was decomposed into terms involving the metric and a gauge vector field. The propagation velocity of the gravitational waves around Minkowski spacetime and their potential polarizations in a general class of symmetric teleparallel gravity theories, called "newer general relativity" class, was investigated in [142]. The theory is defined in terms of the most general Lagrangian that is quadratic in the non-metricity tensor, does not contain its derivatives and is determined by five free parameters. As a result of this investigation it was found that all gravitational waves propagate with the speed of light. The Noether symmetry approach was used to classify all possible quadratic, firstorder derivative terms of the non-metricity tensor in the framework of symmetric teleparallel geometry in [143]. The considered models were invariant under point transformations in a cosmological background. The symmetries of these models were used to reduce the dynamics of the system in order to find analytical solutions. The cosmology of the f(Q) theory and its observational constraints were investigated in [144] and [145], and it was shown that in this theory the accelerating expansion is an intrinsic property of the geometry of the Universe, without need of either exotic dark energy or extra fields. The dynamical system method was used to investigate the general properties of the cosmological evolution. The behavior of the cosmological perturbations in f(Q) gravity was investigated in [147]. Tensor perturbations feature a re-scaling of the corresponding Newton constant, while vector perturbations do not contribute in the absence of vector sources. In the scalar sector two additional propagating modes were found, indicating that f(Q) theories introduce, at least, two additional degrees of freedom.

An extension of symmetric teleparallel gravity was considered in [141] by introducing, in the framework of the metric-affine formalism, a new class of theories where the non-metricity Q is non-minimally coupled to the matter Lagrangian. A Lagrangian of the form  $L = f_1(Q) + f_2(Q)L_m$  was considered, where  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are generic functions of Q, and  $L_m$  is the matter Lagrangian. This nonminimal coupling leads to the nonconservation of the energymomentum tensor, and consequently the appearance of an extra force in the geodesic equation of motion. Several cosmological applications were considered for some specific functional forms of the functions  $f_1(Q)$  and  $f_2(Q)$ , such as power-law and exponential dependencies of the non-minimal couplings. The cosmological solutions lead to accelerating evolutions at late times.

It is the main goal of our present investigation to consider another extension of f(Q) gravity, which is based on the non-minimal coupling between the non-metricity Q and the trace T of the matter-energy-momentum tensor. More exactly, we assume that the Lagrangian density of the gravitational field is given by a general function of both Q and T, so that L = f(Q, T). From this gravitational Lagrangian the geometric action can be constructed in the usual way. By varying the action with respect to the metric tensor we obtain the general field equations describing gravitational phenomena in the presence of geometry-matter coupling. By considering the covariant derivative of the field equations we obtain the basic result that the divergence of the matter-energymomentum tensor does not vanish in the present approach to the gravitational interaction. The cosmological implications of the f(Q, T) theory are investigated for three classes of specific models. The obtained solutions describe both accelerating and decelerating evolutionary phases of the Universe, and they indicate that f(Q, T) gravity can provide useful insights for the description of the early and late phases of cosmological evolution.

The present paper is organized as follows. The geometric background, the gravitational action, the field equations and the divergence of the matter-energy-momentum tensor are presented in Sect. 2. The cosmological formalism of f(Q, T) gravity is investigated, for a homogeneous and isotropic flat geometry in Sect. 3. Three specific cosmological models, corresponding to different choices of the function f(Q, T), are analyzed in detail in Sect. 4. We discuss and conclude our

results in Sect. 5. The explicit calculations of the geometric and physical quantities necessary to obtain the field equations and the divergence of the matter-energy-momentum tensor (the general expression of Q, the variation  $\delta Q$ , the variation of the gravitational action with respect to the connection, the divergence of the field equations, and the expression of Qfor the cosmological case) are presented in detail in Appendices A–E.

#### 2 Field equations of f(Q, T) theory

In the present section we briefly review the geometrical foundations of the gravitational theories based on the assumption of the existence of a general line element in the spacetime. Then we will introduce the variational principle of the f(Q, T) gravitational theory, and we obtain the gravitational field equations of this geometric approach to the gravitational phenomena. The divergence of the matter-energymomentum tensor is also considered, and we show that due to the coupling between matter and geometry this tensor is not conserved.

#### 2.1 Geometrical preliminaries

Weyl introduced an important generalization of the Riemannian geometry, representing the mathematical basis of general relativity, by assuming that during the parallel transport around a closed path, an arbitrary vector will not only be subject to a change of its direction, but it will also experience a modification of its length [79]. To describe mathematically these two simultaneous changes, Weyl proposed the introduction of a new vector field  $w^{\mu}$ , which, together with the metric tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , represents the fundamental fields of the Weyl geometry. The Weyl geometric theory has the important characteristic that the mathematical properties of the vector  $w^{\mu}$  exactly coincide with those of the electromagnetic potentials. This suggests that the electromagnetic and gravitational forces, both long-range forces, may have a common geometric origin [80].

If in a Weyl space a vector of length l is carried along an infinitesimal path  $\delta x^{\mu}$  by parallel transport, the variation in its length  $\delta l$  is given by the expression  $\delta l = lw_{\mu}\delta x^{\mu}$  [80]. After the parallel transport of a vector around a small closed loop of area  $\delta s^{\mu\nu}$ , the variation of the length of the vector is given by the expression  $\delta l = lW_{\mu\nu}\delta s^{\mu\nu}$ , where we have denoted

$$W_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\nu} w_{\mu} - \nabla_{\mu} w_{\nu}, \qquad (1)$$

and where the covariant derivative  $\nabla_{\nu}$  is defined with respect to the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ .

By performing a local scaling of lengths of the form  $\tilde{l} = \sigma(x)l$ , the field  $w_{\mu}$  changes as  $\tilde{w}_{\mu} = w_{\mu} + (\ln \sigma)_{,\mu}$ ,

while the metric tensor coefficients are modified according to the conformal transformations  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} = \sigma^2 g_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\tilde{g}^{\mu\nu} = \sigma^{-2} g^{\mu\nu}$ , respectively [99]. Another important property of the Weyl geometry is the existence of the semi-metric connection,

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} + g_{\mu\nu}w^{\lambda} - \delta^{\lambda}_{\mu}w_{\nu} - \delta^{\lambda}_{\nu}w_{\mu}, \qquad (2)$$

where  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  denotes the usual Christoffel symbol, obtained with the help of the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . In the Weyl geometry  $\bar{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ is assumed to be symmetric in its lower indices, and with its help one can construct a gauge covariant derivative in the standard way [99]. By using the covariant derivative one can obtain the Weyl curvature tensor, which can be written as

$$R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} = R_{(\mu\nu)\alpha\beta} + R_{[\mu\nu]\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3)$$

where we have defined the quantities

$$R_{[\mu\nu]\alpha\beta} = R_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} + 2\nabla_{\alpha}w_{[\mu}g_{\nu]\beta} + 2\nabla_{\beta}w_{[\nu}g_{\mu]\alpha} + 2w_{\alpha}w_{[\mu}g_{\nu]\beta} + 2w_{\beta}w_{[\nu}g_{\mu]\alpha} - 2w^{2}g_{\alpha[\mu}g_{\nu]\beta}$$
(4)

and

$$\bar{R}_{(\mu\nu)\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \bar{R}_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} + \bar{R}_{\nu\mu\alpha\beta} \right) = g_{\mu\nu} W_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{5}$$

respectively, with the square brackets denoting anti-symmetrization. For the first contraction of the Weyl curvature tensor we find

$$\bar{R}^{\mu}_{\nu} = \bar{R}^{\alpha}_{\ \alpha\nu}^{\mu} = R^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + 2w^{\mu}w_{\nu} + 3\nabla_{\nu}w^{\mu} - \nabla_{\mu}w^{\nu} + g^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \left(\nabla_{\alpha}w^{\alpha} - 2w_{\alpha}w^{\alpha}\right), \qquad (6)$$

where by  $R^{\mu}_{\nu}$  we have denoted the Ricci tensor constructed from the metric. Finally, for the Weyl scalar we obtain the expression

$$\bar{R} = \bar{R}^{\alpha}_{\ \alpha} = R + 6 \left( \nabla_{\mu} w^{\mu} - w_{\mu} w^{\mu} \right).$$
<sup>(7)</sup>

The Weyl geometry can be generalized by taking into account the torsion of the spacetime, thus obtaining the Weyl–Cartan spaces with torsion. In a Weyl–Cartan space-time we can introduce a symmetric metric tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , which defines the length of a vector, and an asymmetric connection  $\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ , which determines the law of the parallel transport as  $dv^{\mu} = -v^{\sigma} \hat{\Gamma}^{\mu}_{\sigma\nu} dx^{\nu}$  [86,99]. In the case of the Weyl–Cartan geometry the connection can be decomposed into three irreducible parts as follows: the Christoffel symbol  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ , the contortion tensor  $C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ , and the disformation tensor  $L^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ , respectively, so that generally one can write [86]

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} + C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} + L^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}.$$
(8)

The first term in the above equation, the Levi-Civita connection of the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , is given by its standard definition,

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\lambda\sigma} \left(\frac{\partial g_{\sigma\nu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + \frac{\partial g_{\sigma\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} - \frac{\partial g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^{\sigma}}\right). \tag{9}$$

The contorsion tensor  $C^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  in Eq. (8) can be obtained from the torsion tensor  $\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{[\mu\nu]}$ , defined as

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{[\mu\nu]} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} - \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\nu\mu} \right), \tag{10}$$

according to the following relation:

$$C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ [\mu\nu]} + g^{\lambda\sigma}g_{\mu\kappa}\hat{\Gamma}^{\kappa}_{\ [\nu\sigma]} + g^{\lambda\sigma}g_{\nu\kappa}\hat{\Gamma}^{\kappa}_{\ [\mu\sigma]}.$$
 (11)

As one can see immediately from the above equation, the contorsion tensor is antisymmetric with respect to its first two indices. The disformation tensor is obtained from the non-metricity as

$$L^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\sigma} \left( Q_{\nu\mu\sigma} + Q_{\mu\nu\sigma} - Q_{\lambda\mu\nu} \right). \tag{12}$$

As for the non-metricity tensor  $Q_{\lambda\mu\nu}$ , it is defined as (minus) the covariant derivative of the metric tensor with respect to the Weyl–Cartan connection  $\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\nabla_{\sigma}g_{\mu\nu} = Q_{\sigma\mu\nu}$ , and it can be obtained [86]:

$$Q_{\lambda\mu\nu} = -\frac{\partial g_{\mu\nu}}{\partial x^{\lambda}} + g_{\nu\sigma}\hat{\Gamma}^{\sigma}_{\ \mu\lambda} + g_{\sigma\mu}\hat{\Gamma}^{\sigma}_{\ \nu\lambda}.$$
 (13)

A comparison of Eqs. (2) and (8) immediately shows that the Weyl geometry is a particular case of the Weyl–Cartan geometry, in which the torsion is zero, and the non-metricity is represented by the expression  $Q_{\lambda\mu\nu} = -2g_{\mu\nu}w_{\lambda}$ . Therefore in a Weyl–Cartan geometry the connection can be written in the form

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} + g_{\mu\nu}w^{\lambda} - \delta^{\lambda}_{\mu}w_{\nu} - \delta^{\lambda}_{\nu}w_{\mu} + C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}, \tag{14}$$

where

$$C^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = T^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} - g^{\lambda\beta}g_{\sigma\mu}T^{\sigma}_{\ \beta\nu} - g^{\lambda\beta}g_{\sigma\nu}T^{\sigma}_{\ \beta\mu}, \tag{15}$$

is the contortion, while the Weyl–Cartan torsion  $T^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$  is defined according to

$$T^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} - \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\nu\mu} \right).$$
(16)

With the use of the connection, one can define the Weyl– Cartan curvature tensor as

$$\hat{R}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu\sigma} = \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\sigma,\nu} - \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu,\sigma} + \hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\sigma}\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \alpha\nu} - \hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \alpha\sigma}.$$
 (17)

With the use of Eq. (14), one can find the curvature tensor  $\hat{R}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu\sigma}$  in terms of the standard Riemann tensor, plus some new terms containing the Weyl vector, the torsion and the contortion. By contracting the resulting curvature tensor, one can obtain the Weyl–Cartan scalar of the geometry as follows:

$$\hat{R} = \hat{R}^{\mu\nu}_{\ \mu\nu} = R + 6\nabla_{\nu}w^{\nu} - 4\nabla_{\nu}T^{\nu} - 6w_{\nu}w^{\nu} + 8w_{\nu}T^{\nu} + T^{\mu\alpha\nu}T_{\mu\alpha\nu} + 2T^{\mu\alpha\nu}T_{\nu\alpha\mu} - 4T_{\nu}T^{\nu},$$
(18)

where we have defined  $T_{\mu} = T^{\nu}_{\mu\nu}$ , and all covariant derivatives are considered with respect to the metric. The symmetric teleparallel gravity is a geometric description of gravity, which is fully equivalent to general relativity. This equivalence can easily be proven in the so-called coincident gauge, for which  $\hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} \equiv 0$ . Now, by imposing the condition that the connection is symmetric, the torsion tensor identically vanishes, and the Levi-Civita connection can be expressed in terms of the disformation tensor as

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu} = -L^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(19)

On the other hand, as is well known from standard general relativity, after eliminating the boundary terms in the expression of the Ricci scalar, the gravitational action can be reformulated in a (noncovariant) form as [6]

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int g^{\mu\nu} \left( \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\sigma\mu} \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\nu\alpha} - \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\sigma\alpha} \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \right) \sqrt{-g} \mathrm{d}^4 x.$$
 (20)

By taking into account Eq. (19), it turns out that in the coincident gauge the gravitational action can be reformulated in terms of the disformation tensor as

$$S = -\frac{1}{16\pi G} \int g^{\mu\nu} \left( L^{\alpha}_{\sigma\mu} L^{\sigma}_{\nu\alpha} - L^{\alpha}_{\sigma\alpha} \Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \right) \sqrt{-g} \mathrm{d}^4 x.$$
(21)

The action given by Eq. (21), called the action of symmetric teleparallel gravity, is thus equivalent with the standard Hilbert–Einstein action of general relativity. However, there are some fundamental differences between the two gravitational models. In the symmetric teleparallel gravity the overall geometry of the spacetime is flat, due to the vanishing of the curvature tensor (17). Hence the global geometry is of Weitzenböck type. Moreover, the gravitational effects occur not because of the rotation of the angle between two vectors in the parallel transport, but because of the variation of the length of the vector itself.

# 2.2 The variational principle and the field equations of f(Q, T) gravity

In the following we will consider an extension of the Lagrangian (21) of the symmetric teleparallel gravity, given by

$$S = \int \left[ \frac{1}{16\pi} f(Q, T) + \mathcal{L}_M \right] \sqrt{-g} \, \mathrm{d}^4 x, \qquad (22)$$

where  $g \equiv \det(g_{\mu\nu})$ , and we have defined

$$Q \equiv -g^{\mu\nu} \left( L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu} L^{\beta}{}_{\nu\alpha} - L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\alpha} L^{\beta}{}_{\mu\nu} \right)$$
(23)

and

$$L^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\gamma} \equiv -\frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\lambda} \left( \nabla_{\gamma}g_{\beta\lambda} + \nabla_{\beta}g_{\lambda\gamma} - \nabla_{\lambda}g_{\beta\gamma} \right), \tag{24}$$

$$Q_{\alpha} \equiv Q_{\alpha}{}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}, \quad \tilde{Q}_{\alpha} \equiv Q^{\mu}{}_{\alpha\mu}.$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

We also introduce the superpotential of our model, defined as

$$P^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{4} \left[ -Q^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} + 2Q_{(\mu}^{\ \alpha}_{\ \nu)} + Q^{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} - \tilde{Q}^{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} - \tilde{Q}^{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu} - \delta^{\alpha}_{\ (\mu}Q_{\nu)} \right] \\ = -\frac{1}{2}L^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} + \frac{1}{4} \left(Q^{\alpha} - \tilde{Q}^{\alpha}\right)g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}\delta^{\alpha}_{\ (\mu}Q_{\nu)}.$$
(26)

Then, as explicitly shown in Appendix A, we obtain for Q the relation

$$Q = -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}P^{\alpha\mu\nu}$$
  
=  $-\frac{1}{4}(-Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + 2Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}Q_{\rho\alpha\nu})$   
 $-2Q^{\rho}\tilde{Q}_{\rho} + Q^{\rho}Q_{\rho}).$  (27)

Next, we vary the action in Eq. (22) with respect to the components of the metric tensor. Hence, as a first step, we obtain

$$\delta S = \int \frac{1}{16\pi} \delta \left[ f(Q, T) \sqrt{-g} \right] + \delta \left[ \mathcal{L}_M \sqrt{-g} \right] d^4 x$$
  
$$= \int \frac{1}{16\pi} \left( -\frac{1}{2} f g_{\mu\nu} \sqrt{-g} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + f_Q \sqrt{-g} \delta Q + f_T \sqrt{-g} \delta T \right)$$
  
$$-\frac{1}{2} T_{\mu\nu} \sqrt{-g} \delta g^{\mu\nu} d^4 x. \qquad (28)$$

The explicit form of the variation of  $\delta Q$  is presented in Appendix B. Moreover, as usual, we define

$$T_{\mu\nu} \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta \left(\sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_M\right)}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}, \quad \Theta_{\mu\nu} \equiv g^{\alpha\beta} \frac{\delta T_{\alpha\beta}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}, \qquad (29)$$

which means that  $\delta T = \delta(T_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu}) = (T_{\mu\nu} + \Theta_{\mu\nu}) \delta g^{\mu\nu}$ . Then we can easily find for the variation of the action the expression

$$\delta S = \int \frac{1}{16\pi} \left\{ -\frac{1}{2} f g_{\mu\nu} \sqrt{-g} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + f_T \left( T_{\mu\nu} + \Theta_{\mu\nu} \right) \sqrt{-g} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - f_Q \sqrt{-g} \left( P_{\mu\alpha\beta} Q_\nu^{\ \alpha\beta} - 2 Q^{\alpha\beta}_{\ \mu} P_{\alpha\beta\nu} \right) \delta g^{\mu\nu} + 2 f_Q \sqrt{-g} P_{\alpha\mu\nu} \nabla^\alpha \delta g^{\mu\nu} \right\} - \frac{1}{2} T_{\mu\nu} \sqrt{-g} \delta g^{\mu\nu} d^4 x.$$
(30)

As for the term  $2f_Q\sqrt{-g}P_{\alpha\mu\nu}\nabla^{\alpha}\delta g^{\mu\nu}$ , after integration and with the use of the boundary conditions it turns out that it takes the form  $-2\nabla^{\alpha}\left(f_Q\sqrt{-g}P_{\alpha\mu\nu}\right)\delta g^{\mu\nu}$ . Finally, after equating the variation of the gravitational action to zero, we obtain the field equations of the f(Q, T) gravity theory:

$$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}}\nabla_{\alpha}\left(f_{Q}\sqrt{-g}P^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}\right) - \frac{1}{2}fg_{\mu\nu} + f_{T}\left(T_{\mu\nu} + \Theta_{\mu\nu}\right)$$
$$-f_{Q}\left(P_{\mu\alpha\beta}Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} - 2Q^{\alpha\beta}_{\ \mu}P_{\alpha\beta\nu}\right) = 8\pi T_{\mu\nu}.$$
(31)

Reference [141] also has similar terms to Eq. (31), even the considered basic physical model and action are somewhat different from the present approach.

By using the Lagrangian multiplier method with two constraints  $T^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\gamma} = 0$  and  $R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\mu\nu} = 0$ , we can find the variation with respect to the connection. The explicit calculations are presented in Appendix C. Moreover, we define the hypermomentum tensor density as

$$H_{\lambda}^{\ \mu\nu} \equiv \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{16\pi} f_T \frac{\delta T}{\delta \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}} + \frac{\delta \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}_M}{\delta \hat{\Gamma}^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}}.$$
(32)

By taking into account the anti-symmetry property of  $\mu$ and  $\nu$  in the Lagrangian multiplier coefficients  $\lambda_{\alpha}^{\ \mu\nu}$  and  $\xi_{\alpha}^{\ \beta\mu\nu}$ , we can eliminate them by introducing  $\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}$  into the original part of action variation. Hence, after taking the variation of the gravitational action with respect to the connection we obtain the field equations

$$\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\left(\sqrt{-g}f_{Q}P^{\mu\nu}_{\ \alpha}+4\pi H_{\alpha}^{\ \mu\nu}\right)=0.$$
(33)

#### 2.3 The energy-momentum tensor balance equation

For a (1, 1)-form tensor  $v^{\mu}_{\nu}$  we define its covariant derivative as

$$\nabla_{\mu}v^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \partial_{\mu}v^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \hat{\Gamma}^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}v^{\rho}{}_{\nu} - \hat{\Gamma}^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \\
= \partial_{\mu}v^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \{^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}\}v^{\rho}{}_{\nu} + L^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}v^{\rho}{}_{\nu} \\
- \{^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}\}v^{\mu}{}_{\rho} - L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \\
= \mathcal{D}_{\mu}v^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + L^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}v^{\rho}{}_{\nu} - L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \\
= \mathcal{D}_{\mu}v^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}_{\rho}v^{\rho}{}_{\nu} - L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}{}_{\rho}.$$
(34)

Here we have  $\hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} + L^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ , while by  $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$  we have denoted the Levi-Civita connection associated to the metric.  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  denotes the covariant derivative with respect to the Levi-Civita connection. From Eq. (24) one can easily check that  $L^{\mu}_{\mu\rho} = -1/2 Q_{\rho}$ . The field equations in the (1, 1)-form are given by

$$f_T \left( T^{\mu}_{\nu} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} \right) - 8\pi T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \frac{f}{2} \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + f_Q Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_Q \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\nu} \right).$$
(35)

Deringer

The metric divergence of the field equations (35) is explicitly calculated in Appendix D, and it is given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big[ f_T \big( T^{\mu}_{\nu} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} \big) - 8\pi T^{\mu}_{\nu} \Big] + \frac{8\pi}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} \\ = \frac{1}{2} f_T \partial_{\nu} T + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \mathcal{Q}_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \Big( f_Q \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\nu} \Big).$$
(36)

To simplify the above equation, we first solve Eq. (33) by introducing the tensor  $A^{\nu}{}_{\alpha}$ , so that

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left( \sqrt{-g} f_{\mathcal{Q}} P^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha} + 4\pi H_{\alpha}{}^{\mu\nu} \right) = \sqrt{-g} A^{\nu}{}_{\alpha}, \qquad (37)$$

where we have the additional constrain that

$$\nabla_{\nu} \left( \sqrt{-g} A^{\nu}{}_{\alpha} \right) = \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{2} Q_{\nu} A^{\nu}{}_{\alpha} + \sqrt{-g} \nabla_{\nu} A^{\nu}{}_{\alpha} = 0.$$
(38)

We can always add an anti-symmetrical tensor  $\nabla_{\mu} M_{\alpha}^{[\mu\nu]}$  to  $\sqrt{-g} A^{\nu}{}_{\alpha}$  without adding extra terms to Eq. (38). Now we simply combine Eqs. (36) and (37), and we find another form of the energy-momentum balance equation, given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big[ f_T \big( T^{\mu}_{\nu} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} \big) - 8\pi T^{\mu}_{\nu} \Big] + \frac{16\pi}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} - 8\pi \nabla_{\mu} \Big( \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} \Big) + 2\nabla_{\mu} A^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \frac{1}{2} f_T \partial_{\nu} T,$$
(39)

or, equivalently,

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{f_{T} - 8\pi} \bigg[ - \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \left( f_{T} \Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} \right) - \frac{16\pi}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} + 8\pi \nabla_{\mu} \bigg( \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} \bigg) - 2\nabla_{\mu} A^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \frac{1}{2} f_{T} \partial_{\nu} T \bigg] = B_{\nu}.$$
(40)

Hence in the f(Q, T) gravity theory the matter-energymomentum tensor is not conserved,  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = B_{\nu} \neq 0$ , with the nonconservation vector a function of Q, T, and of the thermodynamical quantities of the system. For a perfect fluid, described by its energy density  $\rho$  and its pressure p, respectively, the energy-momentum tensor takes the form  $T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = (\rho + p) u_{\nu}u^{\mu} + p\delta^{\mu}_{\nu}$ ,  $u^{\mu}$  is the four-velocity of the fluid, normalized as  $u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -1$ . Then, as shown in [141], from the divergence of the energy-momentum tensor we obtain the energy balance and the momentum conservation equations as

$$\dot{\rho} + 3H\left(\rho + p\right) = B_{\mu}u^{\mu} \tag{41}$$

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 x^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}s^2} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\alpha\beta} u^{\alpha} u^{\beta} = \frac{h^{\mu\nu}}{\rho + p} \left( B_{\nu} - \mathcal{D}_{\nu} p \right), \tag{42}$$

respectively, where we have denoted by an overdot the quantity  $\dot{f} = u_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu} f$ , while we have defined  $H = (1/3) \mathcal{D}^{\mu} u_{\mu}$ .  $h^{\mu\nu}$  is the projection operator, given by  $h^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu}u^{\nu}$ . Equation (41) describes the energy balance in f(Q, T) gravity. From a physical point of view it gives the amount of energy that enters or leaves a specified volume of a physical system. The source term  $B_{\mu}u^{\mu}$  corresponds to the energy creation/annihilation. The total energy of the gravitating system is conserved only if the condition  $B_{\mu}u^{\mu} = 0$  is satisfied in all points of the spacetime. If  $B_{\mu}u^{\mu} \neq 0$ , then energy transfer processes or particle production takes place in the given system.

Equation (42) represents the equation of motion of massive particles in f(Q, T) gravity. As can be seen immediately from the equation of motion, the dynamical evolution of the massive particles is not geodesic, and an extra force with components  $F^{\mu} = h^{\mu\nu} (B_{\nu} - D_{\nu}p) / (\rho + p)$ does appear, due to the coupling between Q and T. Hence in f(Q, T) gravity a supplementary force is exerted on any particle, besides the usual gravitational force.  $F^{\mu}$  is orthogonal to the matter four-velocity  $u_{\mu}$ , since from the properties of the projection operator it follows that we always have  $F^{\mu}u_{\mu} = 0$ , which is the standard requirement for a physical force, for which only the components that are orthogonal to the four-velocity of the particle can contribute to its equation of motion.

#### 3 Cosmological evolution of the Friedmann–Lemaitre–Robertson–Walker Universe in f(Q, T) gravity

We are going now to consider the cosmological applications of the f(Q, T) theory, by assuming that the Universe is described by the isotropic, homogeneous and spatially flat Friedmann–Lemaitre–Robertson–Walker (FLRW) metric, given by

$$ds^{2} = -N^{2}(t)dt^{2} + a^{2}(t)\delta_{ij}dx^{i}dx^{j},$$
(43)

where a(t) is the scale factor, and the lapse function N(t) = 1 is for the standard case. The expansion and dilation rates are defined as follows:

$$H \equiv \frac{\dot{a}}{a}, \quad \tilde{T} \equiv \frac{\dot{N}}{N}.$$
(44)

In cosmology H(t) is called the Hubble function. By adopting the coincident gauge, in the covariant derivatives reduce to ordinary derivatives, after straightforward calculations presented in the Appendix E, we find

$$Q = 6\frac{H^2}{N^2}.$$
(45)

🖄 Springer

#### 3.1 The generalized Friedmann equations

To derive the two generalized Friedmann equations describing the cosmological evolution, we assume that the matter content of the Universe consists of a perfect fluid, whose energy-momentum tensor is given by  $T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \text{diag}(-\rho, p, p, p, p)$ . Then for the tensor  $\Theta^{\mu}_{\nu}$  we obtain the expression

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} p - 2T^{\mu}_{\nu} = \text{diag}(2\rho + p, -p, -p, -p).$$
(46)

To simplify the mathematical formalism we introduce the notations

$$F \equiv f_0 \tag{47}$$

and

$$8\pi\tilde{G} \equiv f_T,\tag{48}$$

respectively. By using the FLRW metric, from the field equations we can easily find

$$\frac{f}{2} - 6F \frac{H^2}{N^2} = 8\pi\rho + 8\pi\tilde{G}(\rho + p),$$
(49)  
$$\frac{f}{2} - \frac{2}{N^2} \Big[ \left( \dot{F} - F\tilde{T} \right) H + F \left( \dot{H} + 3H^2 \right) \Big]$$
$$= -8\pi p.$$
(50)

By solving Eqs. (49) and (50) we obtain

$$8\pi p = -M + S, \quad 8\pi\rho = M - \frac{\tilde{G}}{1 + \tilde{G}}S,$$
 (51)

where we have denoted

$$M \equiv \frac{f}{2} - 6F \frac{H^2}{N^2}, \quad S \equiv \frac{2\dot{F}H}{N^2} + \frac{2F}{N^2} \left(\dot{H} - H\tilde{T}\right).$$
(52)

By explicitly including  $\dot{\rho}$  and  $\dot{p}$  in the expression of  $\dot{f} = F\dot{Q} + 8\pi G\dot{T}$ , we obtain the generalized energy balance equation in f(Q, T) gravity as

$$\dot{\rho} + 3H\left(\rho + p\right) = \frac{G}{16\pi \left(1 + \tilde{G}\right) \left(1 + 2\tilde{G}\right)} \times \left[\dot{S} - \frac{\left(3\tilde{G} + 2\right)\dot{\tilde{G}}}{\left(1 + \tilde{G}\right)\tilde{G}}S + 6HS\right].$$
 (53)

We can easily see from the above equation that when f has no T dependence, which means G = 0, the continuity equation is always valid.

Next, we consider the case when N = 1, which is the case of the standard FRW geometry. Thus we have  $Q = 6H^2$ ,  $M = f/2 - 6FH^2$ ,  $S = 2(\dot{F}H + F\dot{H})$ , and the generalized Friedmann equations reduce to

$$8\pi\rho = \frac{f}{2} - 6FH^2 - \frac{2\tilde{G}}{1+\tilde{G}} \left( \dot{F}H + F\dot{H} \right),$$
(54)

$$8\pi p = -\frac{f}{2} + 6FH^2 + 2\left(\dot{F}H + F\dot{H}\right).$$
(55)

Combining the above two equations, we obtain the evolution equation for the Hubble function H as

$$\dot{H} + \frac{\dot{F}}{F}H = \frac{4\pi}{F}\left(1 + \tilde{G}\right)\left(\rho + p\right).$$
(56)

We can bring the cosmological evolution equations to a form similar to the standard general relativity Friedmann's equations, by defining an effective energy density  $\rho_{\text{eff}}$  and an effective pressure  $p_{\text{eff}}$  so that

$$3H^{2} = 8\pi\rho_{\text{eff}} = \frac{f}{4F} - \frac{4\pi}{F} \left[ \left( 1 + \tilde{G} \right) \rho + \tilde{G} p \right], \quad (57)$$
$$2\dot{H} + 3H^{2} = -8\pi\rho_{\text{eff}} = \frac{f}{4F} - \frac{2\dot{F}H}{F}$$
$$+ \frac{4\pi}{F} \left[ \left( 1 + \tilde{G} \right) \rho + \left( 2 + \tilde{G} \right) p \right]. \quad (58)$$

Then it follows that the effective thermodynamical quantities satisfy the conservation equation

$$\dot{\rho}_{\text{eff}} + 3H \left( \rho_{\text{eff}} + p_{\text{eff}} \right) = 0.$$
(59)

An important cosmological quantity is the deceleration parameter q, which is an indicator of the accelerating/decelerating nature of the evolution of the Universe. The deceleration parameter is defined as

$$q = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{1}{H} - 1 = -\frac{\dot{H}}{H^2} - 1 = \frac{1}{2}\left(1 + 3w\right),\tag{60}$$

where  $w = p_{\text{eff}}/\rho_{\text{eff}}$  is the parameter of the equation of state of the dark energy. Negative values of the deceleration parameter indicate accelerating evolution, while positive values indicate decelerating expansion.

Explicitly, the deceleration parameter can be expressed as

$$q = -1 + \frac{3(4\dot{F}H - f + 16\pi p)}{f - 16\pi \left[ \left( 1 + \tilde{G} \right) \rho + \tilde{G}p \right]}.$$
 (61)

To obtain cosmological results that allow for a direct comparison of the model predictions with the astronomical observations, we introduce, instead of the time variable t, as independent variable the redshift z, defined according to

$$1 + z = \frac{1}{a},\tag{62}$$

where we have normalized the scale factor so that its present day value is one, a(0) = 1. Therefore for the time operator we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{\mathrm{d}t}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z} = -(1+z)H(z)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}z}.$$
(63)

The deceleration parameter q can be obtained as a function of the cosmological redshift z as

$$q(z) = (1+z)\frac{1}{H(z)}\frac{dH(z)}{dz} - 1.$$
(64)

We will also compare the behavior of the cosmological parameters in the f(Q, T) gravity with the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model. We assume that the late Universe is filled with dust matter only, having negligible pressure. Then from the standard general relativistic energy conservation equation  $\dot{\rho} + 3H\rho = 0$  we find for the variation of matter-energy density the expression  $\rho \sim 1/a^3 \sim (1 + z)^3$ . The evolution of the Hubble function is given by [18]

$$H = H_0 \sqrt{(\Omega_{\rm DM} + \Omega_b) a^{-3} + \Omega_\Lambda}, \tag{65}$$

where  $\Omega_{\text{DM}}$ ,  $\Omega_b$  and  $\Omega_\Lambda$  are the density parameters of the cold dark matter, baryonic matter, and dark energy (interpreted as a cosmological constant), respectively. The density parameters satisfy the important constraint  $\Omega_{\text{DM}} + \Omega_b + \Omega_\Lambda = 1$ . The Hubble function  $H(z) = H_0 h(z)$  can be written as a function of the redshift in a dimensionless form as

$$h(z) = \sqrt{(\Omega_{\rm DM} + \Omega_b)(1+z)^3 + \Omega_\Lambda}.$$
 (66)

The redshift dependence of the deceleration parameter is obtained:

$$q(z) = \frac{3(1+z)^{3} (\Omega_{\rm DM} + \Omega_{b})}{2 \left[ \Omega_{\Lambda} + (1+z)^{3} (\Omega_{\rm DM} + \Omega_{b}) \right]} - 1.$$
(67)

In the following for the density parameters we adopt the numerical values  $\Omega_{\rm DM} = 0.2589$ ,  $\Omega_b = 0.0486$ , and  $\Omega_{\Lambda} = 0.6911$  [18], obtained from the Planck data, giving for the total matter density parameter  $\Omega_m = \Omega_{\rm DM} + \Omega_b$ the numerical value  $\Omega_m = 0.3089$ . From these numerical values of the cosmological parameters it follows that the present day value of the deceleration parameter as q(0) =-0.5381. As for the variation of the dimensionless matter density with respect to the redshift, we obtain the expression  $r(z) = \Omega_m (1 + z)^3 = 0.3089(1 + z)^3$ .

#### 3.2 The de Sitter solution

Before considering specific cosmological models of f(Q, T)gravity, we would to find the vacuum solution for our field equations, and check if the theory admits a de Sitter type solution, which corresponds to the constraints  $\rho = p = 0$ and  $H = H_0$  =constant, respectively. For a vacuum Universe Eq. (51) suggests M = S = 0, where S = 0 gives a constant  $F = F_0$ , which implies  $f = F_0Q + \Lambda$ , with  $\Lambda$  also an arbitrary constant of integration. The condition M = 0reduces to

$$M = \frac{f}{2} - 6FH^2 = \frac{\Lambda}{2} - 3F_0H_0^2 = 0,$$
(68)

which simply gives  $H_0 = \sqrt{\Lambda/6F_0}$ . This result is similar to the one in Ref. [141], which also gives a result equivalent to the general relativistic case when  $F_0 = 1$ . Hence the f(Q, T) theory admits the de Sitter type evolution in the limiting case

of a vacuum Universe. As one can easily calculate, for the de Sitter solution we have q = -1 and w = -1, respectively.

#### 4 Specific cosmological models

In the present section we will investigate some specific cosmological models in the f(Q, T) gravity theory, corresponding to different choices of the functional form of f(Q, T). For the sake of generality we will assume that the cosmological matter satisfies an equation of state of the form  $p = (\gamma - 1)\rho$ , where  $\gamma$  is a constant, and  $1 \le \gamma \le 2$ . Such a linear barotropic equation of state can describe the baryonic matter behavior in both the high density limit (corresponding to the early Universe) and in the low density limit, appropriate for the description of the present day Universe.

With the use of the barotropic equation of state, from Eqs. (54) and (56) we obtain for the matter density the general expression

$$\rho = \frac{f - 12FH^2}{16\pi \left(1 + \gamma \tilde{G}\right)}.$$
(69)
  
4.1  $f(Q, T) = \alpha Q + \beta T$ 

As a first example of the cosmological evolution in f(Q, T)gravity we will consider the case in which the function f(Q, T) has the simple form  $f(Q, T) = \alpha Q + \beta T$ , where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are constants. Then we immediately obtain F = $F_Q = \alpha$ , and  $8\pi \tilde{G} = f_T = \beta$ . Hence Eq. (56) becomes

$$\dot{H} = \frac{4\pi\gamma}{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{\beta}{8\pi} \right) \rho.$$
(70)

Equations (57) and (58) take the form

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho \left[\beta(\gamma - 4) - 16\pi\right]}{6\alpha}$$
(71)

and

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho \left[\beta(9\gamma - 4) + 16\pi(4\gamma - 1)\right]}{6\alpha},$$
(72)

respectively, which leads to the consistency condition

$$\frac{4(\beta+8\pi)\gamma\rho}{3\alpha} = 0.$$
(73)

For  $\rho \neq 0$ , the above condition implies  $1 + \beta/8\pi = 0$ , which in turn leads, with the use of Eq. (70), to the equation  $\dot{H} = -$ , or  $H = H_0 =$  constant, and  $a(t) = e^{H_0 t}$ . The cosmological evolution is of de Sitter type, in the presence of a nonvanishing matter-energy density. The evolution of  $\rho$ can be obtained from the conservation equation (53), which, taking into account that in the present model S = 0, becomes

$$\dot{\rho} + 3\gamma H_0 \rho = 0, \tag{74}$$

giving  $\rho(t) = \rho_0 e^{-3\gamma H_0 t}$ , where  $\rho_0$  is an arbitrary constant of integration. Hence, the exponential expansion of the Universe is associated, in this model of f(Q, T) gravity theory, with an exponential decrease of the matter content.

4.2 
$$f(Q,T) = \alpha Q^{n+1} + \beta T$$

As a second example of a cosmological model in the f(Q, T)gravity we consider the case for which the function f(Q, T)is given by  $f(Q, T) = \alpha Q^{n+1} + \beta T$ , where  $\alpha$ , *n* and  $\beta$  are constants. Then we easily obtain

$$F = (n+1)\alpha Q^{n} = 6^{n}(n+1)\alpha H^{2n}, 8\pi \tilde{G} = \beta.$$
(75)

Then from Eq. (69) we obtain the expression of the matter density as

$$\rho = \frac{6^{n+1}(2n+1)\alpha H^{2(n+1)}}{\beta(\gamma-4) - 16\pi}.$$
(76)

By using this expression of the density it follows that the evolution equation for H, Eq. (56), takes the simple form

$$\dot{H} + \frac{3(\beta + 8\pi)\gamma H^2}{(n+1)(16\pi - \beta(\gamma - 4))} = 0,$$
(77)

and it has the general solution

$$H(t) = \frac{H_0(n+1) \left[ 16\pi - \beta(\gamma - 4) \right]}{3(\beta + 8\pi)\gamma H_0(t - t_0) - (n+1) \left[ \beta\gamma - 4(\beta + 4\pi) \right]},$$
(78)

where we have used the initial condition  $H(t_0) = H_0$ . The evolution of the scale factor is given by

$$a(t) = a_0 \left[ 3(\beta + 8\pi)\gamma H_0(t - t_0) + a_1 \right] \frac{(n+1)(16\pi - \beta(\gamma - 4))}{3(\beta + 8\pi)\gamma},$$
(79)

where  $a_0$  is an arbitrary constant of integration, and we have denoted  $a_1 = (n + 1) [4(\beta + 4\pi) - \beta\gamma]$ . The deceleration parameter is constant, and it is given by

$$q = \frac{3(\beta + 8\pi)\gamma}{(n+1)\left[16\pi - \beta(\gamma - 4)\right]} - 1.$$
 (80)

If the model parameters satisfy the constraint  $3(\beta + 8\pi)\gamma/(n + 1)[16\pi - \beta(\gamma - 4)] < 1$ , the deceleration parameter takes negative values, and the expansion of the Universe is accelerating.

$$4.3 f(Q,T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2$$

Finally, as a simple example of a cosmological model in f(Q, T) gravity, we will consider the case when the function f(Q, T) has the form  $f(Q, T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2$ , where  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta > 0$  are constants. Moreover, for the sake of simplicity, we will fix the equation of state of the cosmological matter

from the beginning as dust, that is, we choose  $\gamma = 1$ , giving p = 0. Then we immediately obtain

$$F = -\alpha, 8\pi \tilde{G} = -2\beta T = 2\beta\rho(t).$$
(81)

Equation (69) gives for the matter density the simple algebraic equation

$$\rho(t) = \frac{-\beta \rho^2(t) + 6\alpha H^2(t)}{16\pi \left[1 + 2\beta \rho(t)\right]},$$
(82)

which has the physical solution

$$\rho(t) = \frac{8\pi \left[\sqrt{1 + 3(1 + 32\pi)\alpha\beta H^2(t)/32\pi^2} - 1\right]}{\beta (1 + 32\pi)}.$$
 (83)

If the condition  $3(1+32\pi)\alpha\beta H^2(t)/32\pi^2 << 1$ , is satisfied, power expanding the square root in the above equation gives  $\rho(t) \propto H^2(t)$ . Thus in this limit we recover the standard general relativistic result.

The evolution equation for the Hubble function, Eq. (69), takes for this model the form

$$\dot{H}(t) = -\frac{32\pi^2}{\alpha\beta (1+32\pi)} \times \left\{ 1 + \frac{2\left[\sqrt{1+3(1+32\pi)\alpha\beta H^2(t)/32\pi^2} - 1\right]}{1+32\pi} \right\} \times \left[\sqrt{1+3(1+32\pi)\alpha\beta H^2(t)/32\pi^2} - 1\right].$$
(84)

We rescale now the Hubble function according to

$$H(t) = H_0 h(t) = \sqrt{\frac{32\pi^2}{3(1+32\pi)\,\alpha\beta}} h(t), \tag{85}$$

and we introduce the model parameter  $\lambda$ , defined as

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{96\pi^2}{(1+32\pi)\alpha\beta}}.$$
(86)

Then, in the new variables, Eq. (84) becomes

$$\frac{dh(t)}{dt} = -\lambda \left\{ 1 + \frac{2\left[\sqrt{1+h^2(t)}-1\right]}{1+32\pi} \right\} \left[\sqrt{1+h^2(t)}-1\right].$$
(87)

In terms of the redshift z Eq. (87) takes the form

$$(1+z) h(z) \frac{dh(z)}{dz} = \lambda \left\{ 1 + \frac{2\left[\sqrt{1+h^2(z)} - 1\right]}{1+32\pi} \right\} \times \left[\sqrt{1+h^2(z)} - 1\right].$$
(88)

D Springer



**Fig. 1** Variation of the Hubble function as a function of the redshift *z* in the f(Q, T) gravity theory for  $f(Q, T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2$  and for a dust Universe, for different values of the parameter  $\lambda$ :  $\lambda = 1.52$  (dotted curve),  $\lambda = 1.64$  (short dashed curve),  $\lambda = 1.75$  (dashed curve),  $\lambda = 1.83$  (long dashed curve), and  $\lambda = 1.88$  (ultra long dashed curve), respectively. The variation of the Hubble function in the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model is also represented as the solid curve

By introducing the new variable  $u(z) = h^2(z)$ , the above equation can be written as

$$(1+z)\frac{du}{dz} = 2\lambda \left\{ 1 + \frac{2\left[\sqrt{1+u(z)} - 1\right]}{1+32\pi} \right\}$$
$$\left[\sqrt{1+u(z)} - 1\right].$$
(89)

In the limit  $h^2(t) \ll 1$ , Eq. (87) can be approximated as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}h(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\frac{\lambda}{2}h^2(t),\tag{90}$$

with the general solution given by

$$h(t) = \frac{2h_0}{2 + h_0\lambda (t - t_0)},\tag{91}$$

where  $h_0 = h(t_0)$ . From  $H(t) = H_0h(t) = \dot{a}/a$  we obtain the scale factor as  $a(t) = [2 + h_0\lambda (t - t_0)]^{2H_0/\lambda}$ . The deceleration parameter is given by  $q = \lambda/2H_0 - 1 = \sqrt{3}/2 - 1 < 0$ , while the matter-energy density varies as  $\rho(t) = 12H_0^2h_0^2/[2 + h_0\lambda (t - t_0)]^2$ .

The variation of the Hubble function as a function of the redshift, obtained by numerically integrating Eq. (89), is presented in Fig. 1. The evolution equation for the Hubble function was integrated with the initial condition u(0) = 1, and we have considered the redshift range  $z \in [0, 1]$ .

As one can see from Fig. 1, the Hubble function is a monotonically increasing function of the redshift (monotonically decreasing function of time) for all considered values of the model parameter  $\lambda$ . For small values of z the cosmological evolution is practically independent from the numerical values of  $\lambda$ , but at higher redshifts there is a significant effect of the parameter value on the cosmic expansion. For the sake of comparison we have also presented the variation of the



Fig. 2 Variation of the matter-energy density  $\rho$  as a function of the redshift *z* in the f(Q, T) gravity theory for  $f(Q, T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2$  and for a dust Universe, for different values of the parameter  $\lambda$ :  $\lambda = 1.52$  (dotted curve),  $\lambda = 1.64$  (short dashed curve),  $\lambda = 1.75$  (dashed curve),  $\lambda = 1.83$  (long dashed curve), and  $\lambda = 1.88$  (ultra long dashed curve), respectively. The variation of the matter energy density in the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model is also represented as the solid curve

Hubble function in the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model, as given by Eq. (66). Despite the existence of some quantitative differences in the Hubble functions of the two models, at least on a qualitative level the two descriptions give similar results. The two approaches work well in the redshift range  $z \in [0, 0.4]$ , where for some specific numerical values of the parameter  $\lambda$  the Hubble function of the f(Q, T) theory basically coincides with that of the  $\Lambda$ CDM model. However, at larger redshifts significant differences in the cosmological evolution predicted by the two models do appear.

The variation of the matter-energy density, given as a function of the redshift by the relation

 $\rho(z) = [8\pi/\beta (1+32\pi)] \left(\sqrt{1+u(z)} - 1\right) \text{ is represented}$ in Fig. 2, for  $8\pi/\beta (1+32\pi) = 1.6$ .

For all adopted numerical values of the parameter  $\lambda$  the energy density is a monotonically increasing function of the redshift (a monotonically decreasing function of the cosmological time). The increase is almost linear, and for small redshifts it is almost independent on the numerical values of  $\lambda$ . However, a dependence on the model parameter can be seen at higher redshifts. The comparison with the matterenergy density in the  $\Lambda$ CDM model shows that, if in the range  $z \in [0, 0.4]$  there is an approximate concordance between the predictions of the two models, for higher redshifts the differences in the matter-energy density increases rapidly as  $(1 + z)^3$ , the almost linear increase of  $\rho$  in this particular f(Q, T) model predicts a much lower matter density at higher redshifts.

The variation of the deceleration parameter q is represented, as a function of the redshift, in Fig. 3, for the same values of the parameter  $\lambda$  as considered in the previous figures.



Fig. 3 Variation of the deceleration parameter q as a function of the redshift z in the f(Q, T) gravity theory for  $f(Q, T) = -\alpha Q - \beta T^2$  and for a dust Universe, for different values of the parameter  $\lambda$ :  $\lambda = 1.52$  (dotted curve),  $\lambda = 1.64$  (short dashed curve),  $\lambda = 1.75$  (dashed curve),  $\lambda = 1.83$  (long dashed curve), and  $\lambda = 1.88$  (ultra long dashed curve), respectively. The variation of the deceleration parameter in the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model is also represented as the solid curve

The deceleration parameter is a monotonically increasing function of z. The evolution of the Universe begins, at redshift z = 1, from a decelerating phase, with q > 0. The expansion of the Universe accelerates, and at a finite value of z it reaches the value q = 0, corresponding to the transition to the accelerated phase. The evolution of q is strongly dependent on the numerical values of the model parameter  $\lambda$ . Depending on these values a large range of present day values of the deceleration parameter can be obtained. The comparison with the deceleration parameter variation in the  $\Lambda$ CDM model shows that there is a qualitative similarity between the two models. However, the present choice of the function f(Q, T) cannot fully reproduce the standard cosmological evolution, in a quantitative way. However, it provides similar qualitative results. Hopefully, by using an advanced fitting procedure, based on the direct application of observational data, and more general functional forms of f(Q, T), this gravity theory may provide an alternative to the standard  $\Lambda$ CDM model.

#### 5 Discussions and final remarks

After more than 100 years since Einstein did propose the first geometric theory of gravity, general theory, we are presently witnessing the very interesting situation that at least three geometric descriptions of gravity are possible, based on the three basic quantities introduced in Riemannian geometry and its extensions (curvature, torsion and non-metricity, respectively). These findings raise the fundamental question of the possibility of a unique geometric description of gravity. Are these three descriptions completely equivalent, or are they perhaps just some particular cases of a more general geometric theory, which is still to be found?

In the present paper we have investigated some theoretical aspects of the third geometric description of gravity, the symmetric teleparallel gravity, or f(Q) gravity, by introducing a new class of theories where the non-metricity Q is coupled non-minimally to the trace of the matter-energy-momentum tensor. From a mathematical point of view we have performed our analysis in the framework of the metric-affine formalism. Our theory is constructed in a similar way like the f(R, T)theory [45], but with the geometric part of the action being replaced by the symmetric teleparallel formulation. Similarly to the standard curvature trace of the energy-momentum tensor couplings, in the f(Q, T) theory the coupling between Q and T leads to the nonconservation of the energy-momentum tensor. This nonconservation has important physical implications, implying significant changes in the thermodynamics of the Universe, similar to those in the f(R, T) theory [45], and, due to the nongeodesic motion of test particles, to the appearance of an extra force. Our approach may also lead to an improvement of the geometrical formulation of gravity theories with geometry-matter coupling. Implemented in both matter and geometry sectors, our approach allows a consistent and workable representation of the non-minimal curvature-matter coupling theories. In this context we have derived the gravitational field equations of the f(Q, T) gravity theory from a variational principle that generalizes the variational principle of the f(Q, T) theory, and we have obtained the general relation describing the nonconservation of the matter-energy-momentum tensor.

As a theoretical test of our theory we have analyzed its cosmological applications. As a first result in this respect we have obtained the generalized Friedmann equations of the f(Q, T) theory describing the cosmological evolution in a flat, homogeneous and isotropic Friedmann-Lemaitre-Robertson-Walker type geometry. The generalized Friedmann equations can be reformulated as the standard equations of general relativity, but with the ordinary matter-energy density and pressure replaced by some effective quantities. The effective quantities depend on the Lagrangian f of the theory, and on its derivatives with respect to Q and T. Interestingly enough, both effective thermodynamic quantities contain linear combinations of the ordinary matter-energy density and pressure. In fact the coupling between the trace of the energy-momentum tensor and the Q field introduces two types of corrections. The first is the presence of an additive term of the form f/4F that independently appears in both Friedmann equations. Secondly, we have the term  $4\pi/F$ , multiplying the linear combination constructed from the components of the energy-momentum tensor (energy density and pressure) in both Friedmann equations. The coefficients of the linear combinations of the energy density and pressure are constructed from the function  $\tilde{G} \propto f_T$ . Consequently, the basic equations describing the cosmological evolution in f(Q, T) gravity can be formulated in terms of an effective energy density and pressure, which both depend on the energy and pressure components of the energymomentum tensor, and on the functions f(Q, T),  $f_Q(Q, T)$ and  $f_T(Q, T)$ , respectively. An important indicator of the cosmological evolution, the deceleration parameter, given by Eq. (61), has a complicated dependence on the Lagrangian f and its derivatives, indicating that, depending on the functional form of f(Q, T), a large number of cosmological models can be obtained. We have also shown explicitly that, for the vacuum case, when the f(Q, T) theory reduces to f(Q)theory, for late times, the Universe enters into an exponentially accelerating de Sitter type phase.

We have also considered three explicit classes of cosmological models, obtained by imposing some specific simple mathematical forms for the function f(Q, T). In all three examples we have considered Q and T to enter in an additive form in the Lagrangian, neglecting the possible existence of some cross terms of the type QT, or functions of it. In the case  $f(Q,T) = \alpha Q + \beta T$ , the cosmological evolution is of de Sitter type, with the Universe expanding exponentially. The model  $f(Q, T) = \alpha Q^n + \beta T$  leads to a power-law type form of the scale factor, and to a constant deceleration parameter. However, by an appropriate choice of the model parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  accelerating expansions can be obtained easily. The third model, with  $f(Q, T) = -\alpha Q - betaT^2$ , leads to a complex cosmological dynamics, involving the transition from a decelerating to an accelerating state. The results can be obtained only by numerically integrating the generalized Friedmann equations. The nature of the cosmological evolution is strongly dependent on the numerical values of the model parameters. We have also compared the theoretical predictions of the f(Q, T) theory with the corresponding results in the standard ACDM cosmology. For the specific range of cosmological parameters we have considered it followed that the Universe began its recent evolution in a decelerating phase, and in the large time limit it can reach a de Sitter phase. Depending on the model parameters, a large spectrum of present day values of the deceleration parameter can be obtained. The theoretical predictions of the Hubble parameter are similar to those of the standard general relativistic cosmological model in the presence of the cosmological constant. However, some significant deviations appear for the behavior of the matter-energy density and of the deceleration parameter. But if investigated for a larger range of parameters and functional forms of f this model may represent an alternative to the ACDM cosmology, with the late-time de Sitter phase induced by the coupling between non-metricity and matter.

The f(Q, T) gravity theory is also valid when instead of ordinary matter one includes scalar fields in the action. Another possible application of the f(Q, T) theory is to consider inflation in the presence of scalar fields, an approach that may provide a completely new perspective on the geometrical, gravitational, and cosmological processes that did play a major role in the very early dynamics of the Universe. The analysis of structure formation in f(Q, T) theory is also a major topics of research that could be investigated, with the use of a background metric. For different non-metricitytrace of the energy-momentum tensor coupling models, the SNIa, BAO, CMB shift parameter data can be used to obtain constraints for the respective models. Moreover, such an approach may allow the detailed exploration and analysis of structure formation from a different perspective. An interesting issue is to obtain the Newtonian and the post-Newtonian limits of the f(Q, T) gravity, and to investigate the constraints the local gravity at the Solar System level impose on the theory. The Newtonian limit can also help in finding constraints arising from other astrophysical observations.

To conclude, in the present investigation we have introduced a new version of the symmetric teleparallel theory, and we have proven its theoretical consistency. This approach also motivates and encourages the study of further extensions of the f(Q) type family of theories. We have shown that the presented approach predicts de Sitter type expansions of the Universe, and thus it may represent a geometric alternatives to dark energy. Hence this study offers some basic theoretical tools for the in depth investigation of the geometric aspects of gravity, and of its cosmological implications.

Acknowledgements T. H. would like to thank the Yat-Sen School of the Sun Yat-Sen University in Guangzhou, P. R. China, for the kind hospitality offered during the preparation of this work. S.-D. L. thanks the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province for financial support (Grant no. 2016A030313313).

**Data Availability Statement** This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited [Authors' comment: There are no data for this study.]

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. Funded by SCOAP<sup>3</sup>.

#### Appendix A: Calculation of $Q = -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}P^{\alpha\mu\nu}$

According to Eqs. (23 )and (24), we have

$$Q \equiv -g^{\mu\nu} \left( L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu} L^{\beta}{}_{\nu\alpha} - L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\alpha} L^{\beta}{}_{\mu\nu} \right), \tag{A1}$$

$$L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\lambda} \left( Q_{\mu\beta\lambda} + Q_{\beta\lambda\mu} - Q_{\lambda\mu\beta} \right), \tag{A2}$$

$$L^{\beta}_{\nu\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\beta\rho}\left(Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + Q_{\nu\rho\alpha} - Q_{\rho\alpha\nu}\right),\tag{A3}$$

$$L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\lambda} \left( Q_{\alpha\beta\lambda} + Q_{\beta\lambda\alpha} - Q_{\lambda\alpha\beta} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \left( \tilde{Q}_{\beta} + Q_{\beta} - \tilde{Q}_{\beta} \right) = -\frac{1}{2}Q_{\beta}, \tag{A4}$$

$$L^{\beta}_{\ \mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2}g^{\beta\rho} \left( Q_{\nu\mu\rho} + Q_{\mu\rho\nu} - Q_{\rho\nu\mu} \right).$$
 (A5)

Thus, we obtain

$$-g^{\mu\nu}L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu}L^{\beta}{}_{\nu\alpha}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}g^{\alpha\lambda}g^{\beta\rho}\left(Q_{\mu\beta\lambda} + Q_{\beta\lambda\mu} - Q_{\lambda\mu\beta}\right)$$

$$\times \left(Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + Q_{\nu\rho\alpha} - Q_{\rho\alpha\nu}\right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4}\left(Q^{\nu\rho\alpha} + Q^{\rho\alpha\nu} - Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}\right)$$

$$\times \left(Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + Q_{\nu\rho\alpha} - Q_{\rho\alpha\nu}\right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4}\left(Q^{\nu\rho\alpha}Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + Q^{\nu\rho\alpha}Q_{\nu\rho\alpha}\right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4}\left(Q^{\nu\rho\alpha}Q_{\mu\alpha\nu} + Q^{\rho\alpha\nu}Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}Q_{\mu\alpha\nu}\right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4}\left(2Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}Q_{\rho\alpha\nu} - Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}Q_{\alpha\nu\rho}\right), \quad (A6)$$

$$g^{\mu\nu}L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\alpha}L^{\beta}{}_{\mu\nu}$$

$$=\frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}g^{\beta\rho}Q_{\beta}\left(Q_{\nu\mu\rho}+Q_{\mu\rho\nu}-Q_{\rho\nu\mu}\right)$$

$$=\frac{1}{4}Q^{\rho}\left(2\tilde{Q}_{\rho}-Q_{\rho}\right),$$
(A7)

$$Q = -\frac{1}{4} \left( -Q^{\alpha\nu\rho} Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} + 2Q^{\alpha\nu\rho} Q_{\rho\alpha\nu} -2Q^{\rho} \tilde{Q}_{\rho} + Q^{\rho} Q_{\rho} \right).$$
(A8)

Then, according to Eq. (26), we have

$$P^{\alpha\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4} \bigg[ -Q^{\alpha\mu\nu} + Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} + Q^{\nu\alpha\mu} + Q^{\nu\alpha\mu} + Q^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu} - \tilde{Q}^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \left(g^{\alpha\mu}Q^{\nu} + g^{\alpha\nu}Q^{\mu}\right) \bigg], \qquad (A9)$$

$$-Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}P^{\alpha\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{4} \left[ -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\alpha\mu\nu} + Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} + Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} + Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu} - Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}\tilde{Q}^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{\alpha\mu\nu} \right]$$
$$= -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}\tilde{Q}^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu} + g^{\alpha\nu}Q^{\mu} \right]$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4} (-Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\alpha\mu\nu} + Q_{\alpha}Q^{\alpha} - 2Q_{\alpha}\tilde{Q}^{\alpha})$$
$$= Q.$$
(A10)

To obtain the above result we have used the relations  $Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} = Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\nu\alpha\mu}$ , which is valid since  $Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} = Q_{\alpha\nu\mu}Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} = Q^{\alpha\nu\mu}Q_{\mu\alpha\nu} = Q^{\nu\mu\alpha}Q_{\alpha\nu\mu} = Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\nu\alpha\mu}$ . Hence, we have proved that  $Q = -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}P^{\alpha\mu\nu}$ , a relation which is very useful in later calculations.

#### Appendix B: Calculation of the variation of $\delta Q$

Before the presentation of the detailed variation of  $\delta Q$ , we write down all the non-metricity tensors for later applications. They are found to be

$$Q_{\alpha\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu}, \tag{B1}$$

$$Q^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} = g^{\alpha\beta} Q_{\beta\mu\nu} = g^{\alpha\beta} \nabla_{\beta} g_{\mu\nu} = \nabla^{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu}, \tag{B2}$$

$$Q_{\alpha\nu}^{\ \mu} = g^{\mu\rho} Q_{\alpha\rho\nu} = g^{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} g_{\rho\nu} = -g_{\rho\nu} \nabla_{\alpha} g^{\mu\rho}, \qquad (B3)$$

$$Q_{\alpha\mu}^{\nu} = g^{\nu\rho} Q_{\alpha\mu\rho} = g^{\nu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} g_{\mu\rho} = -g_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} g^{\nu\rho}, \qquad (B4)$$
$$Q^{\alpha\mu}_{\ \nu} = g^{\alpha\beta} g^{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\beta} g_{\rho\nu} = g^{\mu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} g_{\rho\nu}$$

$$= -g_{\rho\nu}\nabla^{\alpha}g^{\mu\rho}, \qquad (B5)$$

$$Q^{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}^{\nu} = g^{\alpha\beta}g^{\nu\rho}\nabla_{\beta}g_{\mu\rho} = g^{\nu\rho}\nabla^{\alpha}g_{\mu\rho}$$
$$= -g_{\mu\rho}\nabla^{\alpha}g^{\nu\rho}, \tag{B6}$$

$$Q_{\alpha}^{\ \mu\nu} = g^{\mu\rho}g^{\nu\sigma}\nabla_{\alpha}g_{\rho\sigma} = -g^{\mu\rho}g_{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\alpha}g^{\nu\sigma}$$

$$= -\nabla_{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (B/)$$

$$Q^{\alpha\mu\nu} = -\nabla^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (B8)

Let us find the variation of Q by using Eq. (A7),

$$\begin{split} \delta \mathcal{Q} &= -\frac{1}{4} \delta \\ & \left( -\mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\nu\rho} + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \mathcal{Q}_{\rho\alpha\nu} - 2\mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\rho} + \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \mathcal{Q}_{\rho} \right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} (-\delta \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\nu\rho} - \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \delta \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\nu\rho} + 2\delta \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \mathcal{Q}_{\rho\alpha\nu} \\ & + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \delta \mathcal{Q}_{\rho\alpha\nu} - 2\delta \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\rho} - 2\mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \delta \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\rho} \\ & + \delta \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \mathcal{Q}_{\rho} + \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \delta \mathcal{Q}_{\rho} ) \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} \Big[ \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} - \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} \delta g_{\nu\rho} - 2\mathcal{Q}_{\rho\alpha\nu} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ & + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\rho} \delta g_{\alpha\nu} - 2\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\rho} \delta (-g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\rho} g^{\mu\nu}) \\ & - 2\mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \delta (\nabla^{\lambda} g_{\rho\lambda}) + \mathcal{Q}_{\rho} \delta (-g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\rho} g^{\mu\nu}) \\ & + \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \delta (-g_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\rho} g^{\mu\nu}) \Big] \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} \Big[ \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} - \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} \delta g_{\nu\rho} - 2\mathcal{Q}_{\rho\alpha\nu} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ & + 2\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\rho} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\rho} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - 2\mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \nabla^{\lambda} \delta g_{\rho\lambda} \\ & -\mathcal{Q}_{\rho} \nabla^{\rho} g^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{Q}_{\rho} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\rho} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \\ & -\mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \nabla_{\rho} g^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\rho} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \Big] \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} \Big[ \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} - \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} \delta g_{\nu\rho} - 2\mathcal{Q}_{\rho\alpha\nu} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ & - 2\mathcal{Q}^{\rho} \nabla_{\rho} g^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{Q}^{\rho} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\rho} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \Big] \end{aligned}$$

Deringer

$$+2Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\delta g_{\alpha\nu} + 2\tilde{Q}_{\rho}\nabla^{\rho}g^{\mu\nu}\delta g_{\mu\nu} +2\tilde{Q}_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\rho}\delta g^{\mu\nu} - 2Q^{\rho}\nabla^{\lambda}\delta g_{\rho\lambda} -Q_{\rho}\nabla^{\rho}g^{\mu\nu}\delta g_{\mu\nu} - Q_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\rho}\delta g^{\mu\nu} -Q^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}g^{\mu\nu}\delta g_{\mu\nu} - Q^{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}\delta g^{\mu\nu} \bigg].$$
(B9)

In order to simplify the above equation we can use several useful equations:

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = -g_{\mu\alpha} \delta g^{\alpha\beta} g_{\beta\nu}, \qquad (B10)$$

$$-Q^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} \delta g_{\nu\rho}$$

$$= -Q^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( -g_{\nu\lambda} \delta g^{\lambda\theta} g_{\theta\rho} \right)$$

$$= 2Q^{\alpha\nu}{}_{\theta} Q_{\alpha\nu\lambda} \delta g^{\lambda\theta} + Q_{\alpha\lambda\theta} \nabla^{\alpha} g^{\lambda\theta}$$

$$= 2Q^{\alpha\sigma}{}_{\nu} Q_{\alpha\sigma\mu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} g^{\nu\rho}, \qquad (B11)$$

$$Q^{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla_{\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} = -4Q^{\sigma\rho} Q_{\alpha\nu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu}$$

$$2Q^{\alpha\nu\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\delta g_{\alpha\nu} = -4Q_{\mu}^{\ \sigma\rho}Q_{\rho\sigma\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} -2Q_{\nu\rho\alpha}\nabla^{\alpha}\delta g^{\nu\rho}, \tag{B12}$$

$$-2Q^{\rho}\nabla^{\lambda}\delta g_{\rho\lambda} = 2Q^{\alpha}Q_{\nu\alpha\mu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} +2Q_{\mu}\tilde{Q}_{\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} +2Q_{\nu}g_{\alpha\rho}\nabla^{\alpha}g^{\nu\rho}.$$
(B13)

Thus, Eq. (B9) takes the form

$$\delta Q = -\frac{1}{4} \Big[ Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} + 2Q^{\alpha\sigma}{}_{\nu} Q_{\alpha\sigma\mu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \\ + Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} g^{\nu\rho} - 2Q_{\rho\alpha\nu} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ - 4Q_{\mu}{}^{\sigma\rho} Q_{\rho\sigma\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - 2Q_{\nu\rho\alpha} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ + 2\tilde{Q}^{\rho} Q_{\rho\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + 2\tilde{Q}_{\alpha} g_{\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ + 2Q^{\alpha} Q_{\nu\alpha\mu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + 2Q_{\mu} \tilde{Q}_{\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \\ + 2Q_{\nu} g_{\alpha\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} g^{\nu\rho} - Q^{\rho} Q_{\rho\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \\ - Q_{\alpha} g_{\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} - Q^{\rho} Q_{\rho\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \\ - Q_{\alpha} g_{\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \Big] \\ = 2P_{\alpha\nu\rho} \nabla^{\alpha} \delta g^{\nu\rho} \\ - \left(P_{\mu\alpha\beta} Q_{\nu}{}^{\alpha\beta} - 2Q^{\alpha\beta}{}_{\mu} P_{\alpha\beta\nu}\right) \delta g^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (B14)$$

where we have used the relations

$$2P_{\alpha\nu\rho} = -\frac{1}{4} \Big[ 2Q_{\alpha\nu\rho} - 2Q_{\rho\alpha\nu} - 2Q_{\nu\rho\alpha} \\ +2(\tilde{Q}_{\alpha} - Q_{\alpha})g_{\nu\rho} + 2Q_{\nu}g_{\alpha\rho} \Big], \qquad (B15)$$

$$4 \left( P_{\mu\alpha\beta} Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} - 2Q^{\alpha\beta}_{\ \mu} P_{\alpha\beta\nu} \right) \\ = 2Q^{\alpha\beta}_{\ \nu} Q_{\alpha\beta\mu} - 4Q_{\mu}^{\ \alpha\beta} Q_{\beta\alpha\nu} \\ +2\tilde{Q}^{\alpha} Q_{\alpha\mu\nu} + 2Q^{\alpha} Q_{\nu\alpha\mu} \\ +2Q_{\mu}\tilde{Q}_{\nu} - Q^{\alpha} Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}. \qquad (B16)$$

## Appendix C: Variation of the gravitational action with respect to the connection

The full action of the f(Q, T) theory supplemented with the Lagrangian multipliers is

$$S = \int d^4x \left[ \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{16\pi} f(Q, T) + \mathcal{L}_M \sqrt{-g} + \lambda_{\alpha}^{\ \beta\gamma} T^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\gamma} + \xi_{\alpha}^{\ \beta\mu\nu} R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\mu\nu} \right].$$
(C1)

We can vary the action separately, thus obtaining

$$\delta \left[ \frac{\sqrt{-g}}{16\pi} f(Q, T) + \mathcal{L}_M \sqrt{-g} \right]$$
$$= \left( \frac{4\sqrt{-g}}{16\pi} f_Q P^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha} + H_{\alpha}{}^{\mu\nu} \right) \delta \hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (C2)$$

$$\delta \left( \lambda_{\alpha}^{\ \mu\nu} T^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \right) = 2\lambda_{\alpha}^{\ \mu\nu} \delta \hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}, \tag{C3}$$

$$\delta(\xi_{\alpha}^{\ \rho\nu\nu}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\mu\nu}) = \xi_{\alpha}^{\ \beta\mu\nu} \Big[ \nabla_{\mu} \big( \delta\hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \nu\beta} \big) - \nabla_{\nu} \big( \delta\hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\beta} \big) \Big] \\ = 2\xi_{\alpha}^{\ \nu\beta\mu} \nabla_{\beta} \big( \delta\hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu} \big) \simeq 2 \big( \nabla_{\beta}\xi_{\alpha}^{\ \nu\beta\mu} \big) \delta\hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\nu}.$$
(C4)

Thus,

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \left( \frac{4\sqrt{-g}}{16\pi} f_Q P^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha} + H_{\alpha}{}^{\mu\nu} + 2\lambda_{\alpha}{}^{\mu\nu} + 2\nabla_{\beta} \xi_{\alpha}{}^{\nu\beta\mu} \right) \delta \hat{\Gamma}^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(C5)

To eliminate the Lagrange multipliers, we take two covariant derivatives  $\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}$  or  $\nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}$  (considering vanishing curvature tensor) of the integrand, and thus we finally arrive at Eq. (33).

#### Appendix D: Metric divergence of (1, 1)-form field equations

The metric divergence of the gravitational field Eq. (35) of the f(Q, T) theory is

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big[ f_T \big( T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \big) - 8\pi T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \Big] \\= \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} f + \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big( f_Q Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta} \Big) \\+ \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big[ \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \big( f_Q \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\ \nu} \big) \Big], \tag{D1}$$

where we have

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\left(f_{\mathcal{Q}}\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta}P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta}\right)$$
  
=  $\nabla_{\mu}\left(f_{\mathcal{Q}}\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta}P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}\left(f_{\mathcal{Q}}\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta}P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta}\right)$   
+ $L^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu}\left(f_{\mathcal{Q}}\mathcal{Q}_{\rho}^{\ \alpha\beta}P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta}\right),$  (D2)

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \left[ \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha \mu}_{\nu} \right) \right]$$

$$= \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \left[ \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha \mu}_{\nu} \right) \right]$$

$$= \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha \mu}_{\nu} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \mathcal{Q}_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha \mu}_{\nu} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} L^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha \mu}_{\rho} \right), \qquad (D3)$$

which gives

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big[ f_{T} \Big( T^{\mu}_{\nu} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} \Big) - 8\pi T^{\mu}_{\nu} \Big] + \frac{8\pi}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} \\ = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} f + \nabla_{\mu} \Big( f_{Q} Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta} \Big) \\ + \frac{1}{2} Q_{\mu} \Big( f_{Q} Q_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\beta} P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta} \Big) \\ + L^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \Big( f_{Q} Q_{\rho}^{\ \alpha\beta} P^{\mu}_{\ \alpha\beta} \Big) \\ + \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} L^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\alpha} \Big( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\ \nu} \Big) \\ + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} Q_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \Big( f_{Q} \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\ \nu} \Big) = \sum_{i=1}^{10} E_{i}.$$
(D4)

For the sake of clarity, in the above equation we have defined

$$E_1 = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\nu f, \tag{D5}$$

$$E_2 = \left(\nabla_{\mu} f_Q\right) Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} P^{\mu\alpha\beta},\tag{D6}$$

$$E_3 = f_Q \Big( \nabla_\mu Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} \Big) P^{\mu\alpha\beta}, \tag{D7}$$

$$E_4 = f_Q Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} \Big( \nabla_\mu P^{\mu\alpha\beta} \Big), \tag{D8}$$

$$E_5 = \frac{1}{2} f_Q Q_\mu Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} P^{\mu\alpha\beta}, \tag{D9}$$

$$E_6 = f_Q L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{Q}{}_{\rho\alpha\beta} P^{\mu\alpha\beta}, \tag{D10}$$

$$E_7 = 2 \left( \nabla_\alpha f_Q \right) L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} P^{\alpha\mu}{}_{\rho}, \tag{D11}$$

$$E_8 = f_Q Q_\alpha L^\rho{}_{\mu\nu} P^{\alpha\mu}{}_{\rho}, \tag{D12}$$

$$E_9 = 2f_Q L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\alpha} P^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}, \tag{D13}$$

$$E_{10} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} Q_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \left( f_Q \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha \mu}{}_{\nu} \right). \tag{D14}$$

Then we find the following relations:

$$E_2 + E_7 = \nabla_{\mu} f_Q \Big( Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} + 2L_{\beta\alpha\nu} \Big) P^{\mu\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad (D15)$$

$$E_5 + E_8 = \frac{1}{2} f_Q Q_\mu \Big( Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} + 2L_{\beta\alpha\nu} \Big) P^{\mu\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad (D16)$$

$$E_4 + E_9 = f_Q \bigg[ Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} \Big( \nabla_\mu P^{\mu\alpha\beta} \Big) + 2L^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} \nabla_\alpha P^{\alpha\mu}_{\ \rho} \bigg]$$

-

$$= f_{Q} \bigg[ \Big( Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} + 2L_{\beta\alpha\nu} \Big) \nabla_{\mu} P^{\mu\alpha\beta} + 2L^{\rho}_{\ \alpha\nu} Q_{\mu\beta\rho} P^{\mu\alpha\beta} \bigg]$$
  
=  $2 f_{Q} L^{\rho}_{\ \alpha\nu} Q_{\mu\beta\rho} P^{\mu\alpha\beta},$  (D17)

$$E_{3} + E_{6} + E_{4} + E_{9}$$

$$= f_{Q} \Big( \nabla_{\mu} Q_{\nu\alpha\beta} + 2L^{\rho}{}_{\alpha\nu} Q_{\mu\beta\rho} + L^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} Q_{\rho\alpha\beta} \Big) P^{\mu\alpha\beta}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} f_{Q} \mathcal{D}_{\nu} \Big( Q_{\mu\alpha\beta} P^{\mu\alpha\beta} \Big) = -\frac{1}{2} f_{Q} \partial_{\nu} Q.$$
(D18)

Finally, we obtain

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \Big[ f_T \big( T^{\mu}_{\nu} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\nu} \big) - 8\pi T^{\mu}_{\nu} \Big] + \frac{8\pi}{\sqrt{-g}} \nabla_{\alpha} \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu}^{\ \alpha\mu} \\ = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} f - \frac{1}{2} f_Q \partial_{\nu} Q + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} Q_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \Big( f_Q \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\nu} \Big) \\ = \frac{1}{2} f_T \partial_{\nu} T + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} Q_{\mu} \nabla_{\alpha} \Big( f_Q \sqrt{-g} P^{\alpha\mu}_{\nu} \Big).$$
(D19)

### Appendix E: Calculation of $Q = 6H^2/N^2$

Recalling Eq. (A10), we have

$$Q = -\frac{1}{4} \Big( -Q_{\alpha\mu\nu} Q^{\alpha\mu\nu} + 2Q_{\alpha\mu\nu} Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} + Q_{\alpha} Q^{\alpha} - 2Q_{\alpha} \tilde{Q}^{\alpha} \Big).$$
(E1)

By using the relations already presented in Appendix B, for the case of the Friedmann-Robertson-Walker metric we obtain

$$- Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\alpha\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\alpha}g^{\mu\nu} = \frac{4}{N^2}\left(T^2 + 3H^2\right), \quad (E2)$$

$$Q_{\alpha\mu\nu}Q^{\mu\alpha\nu} = -\nabla_{\alpha}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla^{\mu}g^{\alpha\nu} = -\frac{4}{N^2}T^2, \quad (E3)$$
$$Q_{\alpha}Q^{\alpha} = (g_{\rho\mu}\nabla_{\alpha}g^{\rho\mu})(g_{\sigma\nu}\nabla^{\alpha}g^{\sigma\nu})$$

$$= -\frac{4}{N^2} (T + 3H)^2,$$
 (E4)

$$Q_{\alpha}\tilde{Q}^{\alpha} = (g_{\mu\rho}\nabla_{\alpha}g^{\mu\rho})(\nabla_{\beta}g^{\alpha\beta})$$
$$= -\frac{4}{N^{2}}(T^{2} + 3HT).$$
(E5)

Thus, we have

$$Q = -\frac{1}{4} \left[ \frac{4}{N^2} \left( T^2 + 3H^2 \right) - \frac{4}{N^2} 2T^2 - \frac{4}{N^2} \left( T + 3H \right)^2 + \frac{4}{N^2} \left( 2T^2 + 6HT \right) \right]$$
$$= 6 \frac{H^2}{N^2}.$$
 (E6)

Deringer

#### References

- B. Riemann, Habilitationsschrift, 1854. Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen 13, 1 (1867)
- 2. S.-S. Chern, Not. AMS 43, 959 (1996)
- 3. A. Einstein, Sitzungsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin), 831 (1915)
- D. Hilbert, Nachrichten von der Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen - Mathematisch - Physikalische Klasse 3, 395 (1915)
   A. Finstein Annelen der Physik 354, 760 (1916)
- 5. A. Einstein, Annalen der Physik **354**, 769 (1916)
- L.D. Landau, E.M. Lifshitz, *The Classical Theory of Fields* (Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1970)
- 7. I.I. Shapiro, W.B. Smith, M.E. Ash, S. Herrick, Astron. J. **76**, 588 (1971)
- I.I. Shapiro, C.C. Counselman, R.W. King, Phys. Rev. Lett. 36, 555 (1976)
- 9. J.H. Taylor, J.M. Weisberg, Astrophys. J. 253, 908 (1982)
- 10. C.M. Will, Living Rev. Relat. 17, 4 (2014)
- M. Ishak, arXiv:1806.10122, to appear in Living Reviews in Relativity (2018)
- B.P. Abbott et al., LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 061102 (2016)
- 13. A.G. Riess et al., Astron. J. **116**, 1009 (1998)
- 14. S. Perlmutter et al., Astrophys. J. **517**, 565 (1999)
- 15. P. de Bernardis et al., Nature (Lond.) 404, 955 (2000)
- 16. S. Hanany et al., Astrophys. J. 545, L5 (2000)
- A.G. Riess, L. Macri, S. Casertano et al., Astrophys. J. 730, 119 (2011)
- P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck collaboration, Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 594, A13 (2016)
- Y. Akrami et al., Planck 2018 results. I. Overview and the cosmological legacy of Planck, arXiv:1807.06205 [astro-ph.CO] (2018)
- N. Aghanim et al., Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, arXiv:1807.06209 [astro-ph.CO] (2018)
- 21. P.J.E. Peebles, B. Ratra, Rev. Mod. Phys. 75, 559 (2003)
- 22. T. Padmanabhan, Phys. Rep. **380**, 235 (2003)
- 23. H.A. Buchdahl, Month. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 150, 1 (1970)
- 24. J.D. Barrow, A.C. Ottewill, J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 16, 2757 (1983)
- 25. C.G. Boehmer, T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, Astropart. Phys. 29, 386 (2008)
- O. Bertolami, C.G. Boehmer, T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, Phys. Rev. D 75, 104016 (2007)
- 27. T. Harko, Phys. Lett. B 669, 376 (2008)
- 28. T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, Eur. Phys. J. C 70, 373 (2010)
- T. Harko, T.S. Koivisto, F.S.N. Lobo, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 26, 1467 (2011)
- T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, Phys. Rev. D 84, 024020 (2011)
- T. Harko, T.S. Koivisto, F.S.N. Lobo, G.J. Olmo, Phys. Rev. D 85, 084016 (2012)
- S. Capozziello, T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, G.J. Olmo, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 22, 1342006 (2013)
- S.M. Carroll, V. Duvvuri, M. Trodden, M.S. Turner, Phys. Rev. D 70, 043528 (2004)
- 34. S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 4, 115 (2007)
- F.S.N. Lobo, The dark side of gravity: modified theories of gravity. In Dark Energy-Current Advances and Ideas. (pp 173–204, 2009), Research Signpost, ISBN 978- 81-308-0341-8. arXiv:0807.1640 [gr-qc]
- 36. A. De Felice, S. Tsujikawa, Living Rev. Rel. 13, 3 (2010)
- 37. T.P. Sotiriou, V. Faraoni, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, 451 (2010)
- 38. S. Capozziello, M. De Laurentis, Phys. Rep. 509, 167 (2011)
- 39. G.J. Olmo, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 20, 413 (2011)

- 40. S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, Phys. Rep. 505, 59 (2011)
- K. Bamba, S. Capozziello, S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, Astrophys. Space Sci. 342, 155 (2012)
- 42. T. Clifton, P.G. Ferreira, A. Padilla, C. Skordis, Phys. Rep. 513, 1 (2012)
- 43. P. Avelino et al., Symmetry 8, 7 (2016)
- S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou, Phys. Rep. 692, 1 (2017)
- T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, *Extensions of f(R) Gravity: Curvature-Matter Couplings and Hybrid Metric Palatini Theory* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2018)
- 46. R.-J. Yang, Phys. Dark Univ. 13, 87 (2016)
- V. Dzhunushaliev, V. Folomeev, B. Kleihaus, J. Kunz, Eur. Phys. J. C 74, 2743 (2014)
- V. Dzhunushaliev, V. Folomeev, B. Kleihaus, J. Kunz, Eur. Phys. J. C 75, 157 (2015)
- 49. X. Liu, T. Harko, S.-D. Liang, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 420 (2016)
- F.G. Alvarenga, A. de la Cruz-Dombriz, M.J.S. Houndjo, M.E. Rodrigues, D. Saez-Gomez, Phys. Rev. D 87, 103526 (2013)
- 51. T. Harko, Phys. Rev. D 90, 044067 (2014)
- E.H. Baffou, M.J.S. Houndjo, M.E. Rodrigues, A.V. Kpadonou, J. Tossa, Phys. Rev. D 92, 084043 (2015)
- 53. P.H.R.S. Moraes, J.D.V. Arbanil, M. Malheiro, JCAP 06, 005 (2016)
- Z. Yousaf, K. Bamba, M. Zaeem ul Haq Bhatti, Phys. Rev. D 93, 124048 (2016)
- M.E.S. Alves, P.H.R.S. Moraes, J.C.N. de Araujo, M. Malheiro, Phys. Rev. D 94, 024032 (2016)
- 56. M. Zubair, S. Waheed, Y. Ahmad, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 444 (2016)
- 57. M.-X. Xu, T. Harko, S.-D. Liang, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 449 (2016)
- 58. A. Salehi, S. Aftabi, JHEP 1609, 140 (2016)
- 59. R. Zaregonbadi, M. Farhoudi, N. Riazi, Phys. Rev. D 94, 084052 (2016)
- Z. Yousaf, K. Bamba, M. Zaeem ul Haq Bhatti, Phys. Rev. D 93, 064059 (2016)
- Z. Yousaf, K. Bamba, M. Zaeem ul Haq Bhatti, Phys. Rev. D 93, 124048 (2016)
- 62. Z. Yousaf, M. Zaeem ul Haq Bhatti, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 267 (2016)
- A. Das, F. Rahaman, B.K. Guha, S. Ray, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 654 (2016)
- 64. H. Shabani, A.H. Ziaie, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 31 (2017)
- B.-M. Gu, Y.-P. Zhang, H. Yu, Y.-X. Liu, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 115 (2017)
- 66. M. Zubair, H. Azmat, I. Noureen, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 169 (2017)
- 67. M. Sharif, I. Nawazish, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 198 (2017)
- 68. P.H.R.S. Moraes, P.K. Sahoo, Phys. Rev. D 96, 044038 (2017)
- 69. E.H. Baffou, M.J.S. Houndjo, M. Hamani-Daouda, F.G. Alvarenga, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 708 (2017)
- 70. F. Rajabi, K. Nozari, Phys. Rev. D 96, 084061 (2017)
- G.A. Carvalho, R.V. Lobato, P.H.R.S. Moraes, J.D.V. Arbanil, R.M. Marinho Jr., E. Otoniel, M. Malheiro, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 871 (2017)
- P.K. Sahoo, P.H.R.S. Moraes, P. Sahoo, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 46 (2018)
- P.H.R.S. Moraes, R.A.C. Correa, G. Ribeiro, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 192 (2018)
- 74. P.K. Sahoo, P. Sahoo, B.K. Bishi, S. Aygün, New Astron. 60, 80 (2018)
- 75. H. Shabani, A.H. Ziaie, Int. J Mod. Phys. A 33, 1850050 (2018)
- 76. H. Shabani, A.H. Ziaie, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 397 (2018)
- Z. Yousaf, M. Zaeem-ul-Haq Bhatti, M. Ilyas, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 307 (2018)
- 78. J. Wu, G. Li, T. Harko, S.-D. Liang, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 430 (2018)
- 79. H. Weyl, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. 465, 1 (1918)
- 80. P.A.M. Dirac, Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 333, 403 (1973)
- 81. A. Einstein, Sitzungsberg. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. 478, 1 (1918)

- 82. É. Cartan, C.R. Acad, C.R. Acad, Sci. 174, 593 (1922)
- 83. É. Cartan, Ann. Éc. Norm. 40, 325 (1923)
- 84. É. Cartan, Ann. Éc. Norm. 41, 1 (1924)
- 85. É. Cartan, Ann. Éc. Norm. 42, 17 (1925)
- F.W. Hehl, P. von der Heyde, G.D. Kerlick, J.M. Nester, Rev. Mod. Phys. 48, 393 (1976)
- H.-H. von Borzeszkowski, H.-J. Treder, Gen. Relat. Grav. 29, 455 (1997)
- 88. D. Puetzfeld, R. Tresguerres, Class. Quant. Gravity 18, 677 (2001)
- 89. D. Putzfeld, Class. Quant. Gravity **19**, 4463 (2002)
- 90. D. Puetzfeld, Class. Quant. Gravity 19, 3263 (2002)
- 91. O.V. Babourova, Grav. Cosm. 10, 121 (2004)
- 92. O.V. Babourova, V.F. Korolev, Russ. Phys. J. 49, 628 (2006)
- O.V. Baburova, VCh. Zhukovsky, B.N. Frolov, Theor. Math. Phys. 157, 1420 (2008)
- 94. T.Y. Moon, J. Lee, P. Oh, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 25, 3129 (2010)
- 95. T.Y. Moon, P. Oh, J.S. Sohn, JCAP **11**, 005 (2010)
- 96. M. Israelit, Gen. Relat. Gravit. **29**, 1411 (1997)
- 97. M. Israelit, Gen. Relat. Grav. **29**, 1597 (1997)
- 98. M. Israelit, Found. Phys. 28, 205 (1998)
- 99. M. Novello, S.E. Perez Bergliaffa, Phys. Rep. 463, 127 (2008)
- 100. R. Weitzenböck, Invariantentheorie (Noordhoff, Groningen, 1923)
- A. Einstein, Preussische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Phys.math. Klasse, Sitzungsberichte 1928, 217 (1928)
- 102. C. Möller, Mat. Fys. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk. 1, 10 (1961)
- C. Pellegrini, J. Plebanski, Mat. Fys. Skr. Dan. Vid. Selsk. 2, 4 (1963)
- 104. K. Hayashi, T. Shirafuji, Phys. Rev. D 19, 3524 (1979)
- R. Aldrovandi, J.G. Pereira, *Teleparallel Gravity*, vol. 173 (Fundamental Theories of Physics (Springer, Heidelberg, 2013)
- 106. R. Ferraro, F. Fiorini, Phys. Rev. D 75, 084031 (2007)
- 107. R. Ferraro, F. Fiorini, Phys. Rev. D 78, 124019 (2008)
- 108. G.R. Bengochea, R. Ferraro, Phys. Rev. D 79, 124019 (2009)
- 109. E.V. Linder, Phys. Rev. D 81, 127301 (2010)
- 110. C.G. Boehmer, T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, Phys. Rev. D **85**, 044033 (2012)
- T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, G. Otalora, E.N. Saridakis, Phys. Rev. D 89, 124036 (2014)
- 112. T. Harko, F.S.N. Lobo, G. Otalora, E.N. Saridakis, JCAP **12**, 021 (2014)
- 113. S. Bahamonde, C.G. Boehmer, M. Krssak, Phys. Lett. B 775, 37 (2017)
- 114. S. Capozziello, G. Lambiase, E.N. Saridakis, Eur. Phys. J. C 77, 576 (2017)
- 115. L. Combi, G.E. Romero, Annalen der Physik 530, 1700175 (2018)
- G. Farrugia, J. Levi Said, V. Gakis, E.N. Saridakis, Phys. Rev. D 97, 124064 (2018)
- 117. A. Awad, W. El Hanafy, G.G.L. Nashed, S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou, JCAP **1807**, 026 (2018)
- 118. J. Beltran Jimenez, L. Heisenberg, T. Koivisto, JCAP 08, 039 (2018)

- 119. A. Golovnev, T. Koivisto, JCAP 11, 012 (2018)
- 120. R. D'Agostino, O. Luongo, Phys. Rev. D 98, 124013 (2018)
- 121. M. Fontanini, E. Huguet, M. Le Delliou, Phys. Rev. D 99, 064006 (2019)
- 122. T. Koivisto, G. Tsimperis, Universe 5, 80 (2019)
- 123. J.G. Pereira, Y.N. Obukhov, Universe 5, 139 (2019)
- 124. D. Blixt, M. Hohmann, C. Pfeifer, Universe 5, 143 (2019)
- 125. Z. Haghani, T. Harko, H.R. Sepangi, S. Shahidi, JCAP 10, 061 (2012)
- 126. Z. Haghani, T. Harko, H.R. Sepangi, S. Shahidi, Phys. Rev. D 88, 044024 (2013)
- 127. J.M. Nester, H.-J. Yo, Chin. J. Phys. 37, 113 (1999)
- 128. J. Beltran Jimenez, L. Heisenberg, and T. Koivisto, Phys. Rev. 98, 044048 (2018)
- 129. M. Adak, O. Sert, Turk. J. Phys. 29, 1 (2005)
- 130. M. Adak, Turk. J. Phys. 30, 379 (2006)
- 131. M. Adak, arXiv:1102.1878 [physics.gen-ph] (2011)
- 132. M. Adak, O. Sert, M. Kalay, M. Sari, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28, (2013)
- 133. J. Beltran Jimenez, T.S. Koivisto, Phys. Lett. B 756, 400 (2016)
- A. Golovnev, T. Koivisto, M. Sandstad, Class. Quant. Grav. 34, 145013 (2017)
- 135. I. Mol, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebras 27, 2607 (2017)
- 136. M. Adak, Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. **15**, 1850198–269 (2018)
- I. Soudi, G. Farrugia, V. Gakis, J. Levi Said, E.N. Saridakis, arXiv:1810.08220 [gr-qc] (2018)
- 138. A. Conroy, T. Koivisto, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 923 (2018)
- 139. L. Järv, M. Rünkla, M. Saal, O. Vilson, Phys. Rev. D 97, 124025 (2018)
- 140. A. Delhom-Latorre, G.J. Olmo, M. Ronco, Phys. Lett. B **780**, 294 (2018)
- 141. T. Harko, T.S. Koivisto, F.S.N. Lobo, G.J. Olmo, D. Rubiera-Garcia, Phys. Rev. D 98, 084043 (2018)
- 142. M. Hohmann, C. Pfeifer, J. Levi Said, U. Ualikhanova, Phys. Rev. D 99, 024009 (2019)
- 143. K.F. Dialektopoulos, T.S. Koivisto, S. Capozziello, arXiv:1905.09019 [gr-qc] (2019)
- 144. J. Lu, X. Zhao, G. Chee, Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 530 (2019)
- 145. R. Lazkoz, F. S. N. Lobo, M. Ortiz-Baño, and V. Salzano, arXiv:1907.13219 (2019)
- 146. F.S.N. Lobo, T. Harko, T.S. Koivisto, G.J. Olmo, D. Rubiera-Garcia, arXiv:1901.00805 [gr-qc] (2019)
- 147. J. Beltrán Jiménez, L. Heisenberg, T.S. Koivisto, S. Pekar, arXiv:1906.10027 [gr-qc] (2019)
- 148. J. Beltran Jimenez, L. Heisenberg, T.S. Koivisto, arXiv:1903.06830 [hep-th] (2019)
- 149. Y.F. Cai, S. Capozziello, M. De Laurentis, E.N. Saridakis, Rep. Prog. Phys. 79, 106901 (2016)